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Key figures - Unaudited

Management’s presentation of the operation of Landsvirkjun

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Operation
Operating revenUEeS ........oooeeeveeeeeeieeeeececeeeeeees 499,547 538,455 491,175 415,480 410,496
Realised aluminium hedges .......ccccevvieeeriieieniieeeiieeen 10,047 ( 4,534) ( 8,098) 4,890 10,956
Total operating revenues ........ccccceeviiieeeeeeeeeneeeeeeneennens 509,594 533,921 483,077 420,370 421,452
Operating EXPENSES ...ccovcuveeeriieeriieesireeesieeeeereeesieeeens ( 134,307) ( 144,041) ( 137,503) ( 118,630) ( 99,932)
[ I 7 375,287 389,880 345,574 301,740 321,520
Depreciation and impairment 10SS .......cccceevvveeernieeennne ( 134,779) ( 125,448) ( 127,086) ( 118,571) ( 115,554)
] TR 240,508 264,432 218,488 183,169 205,966
Financial items ....coovveeiiiiiieee e ( 67,231) ( 80,178) ( 64,844) ( 60,045) (  73,418)
Associated COMPANIES ...coveevvreerieinieeieenieenee et eree s ( 27) | 179) ( 228) ( 5,448) ( 1,921)
Profit before unrealised financial items ..................... 173,250 184,075 153,416 117,676 130,627
Unrealised financial items:
Fair value changes in embedded derivatives ................ ( 1,323) ( 49,410) 84,494 21,164 (  59,925)
Fair value changes in other derivatives .........cccceevuenee. ( 8,011) 24,878 ( 12,990) ( 1,269) 5,466
Unrealised foreign exchange difference ........ccccceeveennn. 8,290 21,014 ( 60,745) ( 23,314) 47,657

( 1,044) ( 3,518) 10,759 ( 3,419) ( 6,802)
Profit before income taX ....cccceeeecciirreeenccceeneecnnceenneees 172,206 180,557 164,175 114,257 123,825
INCOME TAX cuvieeieeeriieeniie ettt st ( 59,529) ( 59,528) ( 56,211) ( 47,437) (  39,652)
Net Profit ...cccceieeieciicirenneeeenniniisccccssnnnneeeessesssssssssnnns 112,677 121,029 107,964 66,820 84,173
Balance sheet
TOtal @SSELS ouviiriieeieerie e e 4,381,633 4,451,081 4,506,392 4,332,864 4,284,703
EQUILY vevvieeieeciee sttt st e e 2,235,399 2,163,056 2,063,112 1,969,088 1,916,634
LIabilities .evvvveeeieerieereeriec e 2,146,234 2,288,025 2,443,280 2,363,776 2,368,069
Net debt * ..o 1,691,462 1,884,603 2,042,642 1,960,497 1,985,411
Cash flow
Funds from operations (FFO) ......ccceeeveeviierieescieesieennnnnn 312,322 316,336 282,774 235,602 240,354
Cash flow from operating activities ........ccccccceeevvveennneen. 295,764 295,761 277,937 229,827 248,955
INvesting actiVities .......coovcveeeeriiiiniec e, ( 82,420) ( 150,864) ( 253,740) ( 172,277) (  77,486)
Financing actiVities .....ccoceevveenieinienee e ( 218,261) ( 151,876) ( 45,282) ( 59,305) ( 235,465)
Liquidity
Cash and cash equivalents at yearend .........cccccuveu....e. 110,487 116,278 126,544 144,534 142,127
UNdrawn [0ans ......cccvvieeiiiiciiieee e 180,000 353,155 421,363 472,448 360,824
Total lIqUIdITY ..eeeveeeiieniienieeeecee e 290,487 469,433 547,907 616,982 502,951
Key ratios
Return on equity ....oeeovvieieiiiei i 5.2% 5.9% 5.5% 3.5% 4.9%
EQUITY FLIO 1o eeee e eeeseeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeenns 51.0% 48.6% 45.8% 45.4% 44.7%
Interest cover (EBITDA/net interest expenses) ............. 5.54x 4.76x 5.53x 5.15x 4.60x
FFO / net liabilities .....ccceeeevieeiecieseeece e 18.5% 16.8% 13.8% 12.0% 12.1%
FFO /interest @XPENSES ....ccvveeerveerreereesreeneeenreeesveenenes 4.44x 3.72x 4.35x 3.80x 3.27x
Net debt / EBITDA ...ooooveeireeeeeeeree et 4.51x 4.83x 5.91x 6.50x 6.18x
Credit rating at year end without state guarantee
Standard & POOI'S ....cceevieiiieeiieee e BBB BBB BBB BBB- BB+
MOOAY'S ettt Baal Baa2 Baa3 Baa3 Bal

* Net debt are interest bearing long-term liabilities less cash and cash equivalents
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Quarterly statement 2019 - Unaudited

Management’s presentation of the operation of Landsvirkjun, contd.

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total
Operating revenues
POWEN SAIES ettt 107,129 103,833 90,030 108,723 409,715
Realised aluminium hedges .........cccocveeeviieeincieniiieenne 1,769 2,426 2,761 3,091 10,047
TranSMISSION ceouevieeiieeereee et s 21,180 19,554 18,490 20,888 80,112
Other iNCOME ...ooeiieeeee e 3,079 748 1,450 4,443 9,720

133,157 126,561 112,731 137,145 509,594

Operating expenses

Energy production COStS .......cccvveeeiieeiiciee e 10,773 10,658 11,417 15,125 47,973
TransSmMIiSSION COSES ..uuvuiiimiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeerer e 7,632 8,680 7,985 14,832 39,129
Cost of general research ........ccoceevieieccie e 2,276 2,181 2,680 2,975 10,112
Other operating EXPeNSES ......ccceeeerieeerniieeeriieeesiieeens 10,025 9,300 7,925 9,843 37,093
Depreciation and impairment [0Ss .......cccccoccveeeiveeennns 33,696 33,704 33,400 33,979 134,779
64,402 64,523 63,407 76,754 269,086
Operating Profit .....cccceeeeiiiiiiiiiinieeeeeseceeeeeeeens 68,755 62,038 49,324 60,391 240,508
Financial income and (expenses)
INterest iNCOME ..o 843 846 468 548 2,705
INtErest EXPENSES ...uviiiriiieeeriiee ettt ( 18,198) ( 17,783) ( 18,091) ( 16,328) ( 70,400)
Realised foreign exchange difference ........c..cccooeeennens ( 902) 880 ( 446) 932 464
( 18,257) ( 16,057) ( 18,069) ( 14,848) ( 67,231)
Associated COMPANIES .....ccccveeeerreeeeiiee e ( 35) ( 53) ( 9) 70 ( 27)
Profit before income tax and unrealised items ............ 50,463 45,928 31,246 45,613 173,250
Unrealised financial items:
Fair value changes in embedded derivatives ............... 6,842 ( 6,077) ( 8,545) 6,457 ( 1,323)
Fair value changes in other derivatives ..........ccocceevueenn. ( 5,002) 1,571 385 | 4,965) ( 8,011)
Unrealised foreign exchange difference ..........cccoueee. 9,366 ( 947) 8,075 ( 8,204) 8,290
11,206 ( 5,453) ( 85) ( 6,712) ( 1,044)
Profit before income taX .....cceeeeiiirreeecciirreeenncccennene. 61,669 40,475 31,161 38,901 172,206
INCOME TAX eviiiieriie ittt ettt ( 20,508) ( 13,078) ( 10,708) ( 15,235) ( 59,529)
Net Profit ....ccceeeicceiciireeeeeeenniniisccccsnnneeeeessessssssssnnens 41,161 27,397 20,453 23,666 112,677
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent company ......ccccceeviieeinineecneen. 37,263 24,328 18,226 22,947 102,764
Subsidiaries minority interest ........ccccoceeevveeeeciee e, 3,898 3,069 2,227 719 9,913
41,161 27,397 20,453 23,666 112,677
From cash flow
Cash flow from operating activities ........cccccceeeeeennnneen.. 83,989 75,903 62,515 73,357 295,764
Other key metrics for Landsvirkjun parent company 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Installed capacity at year end (MW) ....cccoovveriieeniennnen. 2,146 2,145 2,000 1,957 1,957
Av. price for industrial users excl transm. USD/MWh* 23.2 23.3 21.4 18.6 19.2
Average price for primary energy excl. transm. ISK/kKWh** _, 5.0 4.8 4.6 4.7 4.7
Sales in GWH ..o 14,028 14,753 14,325 13,625 13,900
Research and development ........ccccoeevveeecieeeccvee e, 11,823 14,824 20,004 16,829 19,529
Accident frequency rate: H200*** ........c.cccccevvvveieennen. 0.3 0.6 0.0 0.3 0.4

* Transmission is excluded in the calculation of average price and comparative figures changed
** Here is published average price of primary energy and comparative figures changed
*** H200 is the number of absence accidents per each 200,000 working hours
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Endorsement by the Board of Directors and CEO

Landsvirkjun’s objective is to operate in the energy sector and to engage in other business and financial operations
according to the decision of the Board of Directors at each time. The Company’s consolidated financial statements
include, in addition to the parent company, four subsidiaries, Landsnet hf., Orkufjarskipti hf., Icelandic Power
Insurance Ltd. and Landsvirkjun Power ehf.

The financial statements of Landsvirkjun for the year 2019 are prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and additional requirements in the Icelandic Financial Statement
Act. The functional currency of the Company is US Dollar (USD) and amounts in the financial statements are rounded
to the nearest thousand USD.

The Group’s operating revenues amounted to USD 509.6 million in the year 2019 compared to USD 533.9 million in
the previous year. Thus, revenues decreased by USD 24.3 million. Operating expenses amounted to USD 269.1
million in the year 2019 compared to USD 269.5 million in the year 2018. The Company's operating profit amounted
to USD 240.5 million in the year 2019 compared to USD 264.4 million in the previous year.

Landsvirkjun has entered into derivative contracts in order to manage risk. Contracts have been made in order to
hedge interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk. In addition, derivative contracts have been made in order to
hedge risk due to fluctuations of aluminium prices in the global market as a part of revenues linked to aluminium
prices.

Financial expenses in excess of financial income amounted to USD 68.3 million in the year 2019, compared to USD
83.7 million the previous year. The change between years amounts to USD 15.4 million. The change is because of
lower interest expenses during the year 2019 but during the year 2018 transaction costs in relation to prepayments
of loans was expensed which amounted to USD 10.5 million. The change is also due to currency exchange differences
and fair value changes in derivatives which are mostly unrealised and must be kept in mind when evaluating the
Company's annual results. Profit before unrealised financial items amounted to USD 173.3 million during the year
compared to USD 184.1 million in the year 2018. According to the income statement, profit for the year amounted to
USD 112.7 million compared to USD 121.0 million in the previous year.

Equity at year end 2019 amounted to USD 2,235.4 million compared to USD 2,163.1 million at year end 2018
according to the balance sheet. The Company’s Board of Directors proposes that the profit for the year will be
recognised as an increase in equity. The Company’s Board of Directors will during the Annual General Meeting
propose a dividend payment to the owners of the Company but otherwise refers to the notes to the financial
statements and statement of equity for further changes in equity. Landsvirkjun is a partnership owned by the State
and Eignarhlutir ehf. The State owns 99.9% in the Company and Eignarhlutir ehf. 0.1%.

Cash and cash equivalents at year end amounted to USD 110.5 million and undrawn Revolving Credit and Loan
Facilities amounted to USD 180.0 million. Cash and cash equivalents and undrawn Revolving Credit and Loan
Facilities therefore amounted to USD 290.5 million at year end. Cash flow from operations amounted to USD 295.8
million. There were no new borrowings in the year and repayments amounted to USD 191.5 million. Cash and cash
equivalents decreased by USD 5.8 million during the year.
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Endorsement by the Board of Directors and CEO, contd.

Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors of Landsvirkjun endeavours to maintain good corporate governance taking into consideration
the Guidelines on Corporate Governance issued by the Iceland Chamber of Commerce in collaboration with the
Confederation of Icelandic Employers and Nasdag OMX Iceland. The statement of corporate governance is provided
in an appendix to the financial statements. Further information on the Parent Company’s corporate governance and
risk management is included in notes 30 to 41 and appendix to the financial statements. Landsnet hf. has disclosed
information on corporate governance in an appendix to its financial statements.

Non-financial information

According to the Financial Statements Act public interest entities shall provide information necessary for an
understanding of the entity's development, performance, position and impact of its activity relating to
environmental, social and employee matters, policy regarding human rights, how the entity counteracts corruption
and bribery matters, and a brief description of the entity's business model etc. Information on the Company's policy
and successes in these matters is provided in an appendix to the financial statements. Landsnet hf. has disclosed
information on non-financial information in an appendix to its financial statements.

Statement by the Board of Directors and the CEO

According to the best knowledge of the Board of Directors and the CEO, the consolidated financial statements are in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and additional requirements in
the Icelandic Financial Statement Act and it is the opinion of the Board of Directors and the CEO that the financial
statements give a fair view of the Groups’s assets, liabilities and financial position as at 31 December 2019 and the
Group’s results and changes in cash in the year 2019.

Furthermore, it is the opinion of the Board of Directors and the CEO that the financial statements and the
Endorsement by the Board of Directors for the year 2019 give a fair view of the Group’s results, financial position and
development and describe the main risk factors faced by the Group.

The Board of Directors and the CEO hereby confirm these consolidated financial statements with their signature.

Reykjavik, 28 February 2020.

The Board of Directors:

Jénas P6r Gudmundsson

Alfheidur Ingadottir

Gudfinna Jéhanna Gudmundsdéttir
Gunnar Tryggvason

Jon Bjorn Hakonarson

The CEO:

Hordur Arnarson

Consolidated Financial Statements of Landsvirkjun 2019 6



Independent Auditors' Report

To the Board of Directors and owners of Landsvirkjun

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Landsvirkjun for the year ended December 31, 2019 which
comprise the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of financial position, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated statement of cash flow for the year then ended and
the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of Landsvirkjun as at December 31, 2019, and its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and additional requirements in the Icelandic Financial Statement Act.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of Landsvirkjun in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and we have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matters [How the matter was addressed in the audit

Power sales

More than 70% of Landsvirkjun power sales comes
from sales to power intensive users. The revenue is
based on delivered power and contractual prices
that are based on certain parameters. Due to both
the magnitude and variability of prices, we believe
that power sales to power intensive users are a key
audit matter.

During our audit of power sales to power intensive users we
have confirmed that there is an effective internal control at
Landsvirkjun regarding calculation and approval of invoices.

We have also confirmed calculation of sales prices by comparing
the calculation to contractual agreement and public information
in addition to comparing delivered power to metering.

Valuation of power stations

Included in property, plant and equipment are
power stations which amount to 3,198 million USD
at year-end. Power stations are measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment.

We consider the valuation of power stations to be a
key audit matter due to their magnitude and
management estimation of their expected useful
life.

As to the valuation of the assets, we refer to fixed
assets in note 9 and accounting policies note 53.

We reviewed the impairment test of power stations prepared
by management. During our audit we examined the valuation
methodology and its consistency with prior year. We also
examined management assumption for the valuation. This
included:

e Reviewing the operating plan which is the basis for the
valuation.

¢ Reviewing the assumptions for the weighted average cost of
capital (WACC) used.

We assessed if the valuation’s calculations were in accordance
with IFRS and assessed that the disclosures were appropriate.

Consolidated Financial Statements of Landsvirkjun 2019



Independent Auditors' Report, contd.

Valuation of transmission network

The transmission network of Landsnet, a subsidiary
of Landsvirkjun, is recognised according to the
revaluation method. At vyear-end its carrying
amount was USD 684 million. Transmission network
valuation is based on management estimations
therefore we consider it to be a key audit matter.

Revaluation is performed on a regular basis and it is
measured using a cash flow analysis. The assets
revaluated at year-end 2015 and it
management estimate that there is no basis for
revaluation at year-end 2019.

were is

As to the valuation of the assets, we refer to fixed
assets in note 9 and accounting policies note 53.

Our audit was focused on management estimations of operating
value of transmission lines and substations at year-end 2019.
We examined the valuation methodology and its consistency
with prior year. We also examined management assumption for
the valuation. This included:

e Reviewing the operating plan which is the basis for the
valuation.

¢ Reviewing the assumptions for the weighted average cost of
capital (WACC) used.

We assessed if the valuation’s calculations and disclosures were
in accordance with IFRS.

We have also examined management assumption related to
depreciation methods in accordance with IFRS.

Other information

The Board of Directors and the CEO are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises key
figures, quarterly statement, the endorsement by the board of directors and CEO, statement of corporate
governance and non-financial reporting.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon, except the confirmation regarding the report of the board of directors as stated
below.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

In accordance with Paragraph 2 article 104 of the Icelandic Financial Statement Act no. 3/2006, we confirm to the
best of our knowledge that the accompanying report of the board of directors includes all information required by
the Icelandic Financial Statement Act and is not disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and CEO for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and the CEO are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and
additional requirements in the Icelandic Financial Statement Act, and for such internal control as the Board of
Directors and the CEO determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors and the CEO are responsible for assessing
Landsvirkjun’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors and the CEO either intends to liquidate the
company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditors' Report, contd.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

¢ |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
Landsvirkjun's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and related disclosures, and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. If such disclosures are inadequate we are
required to modify our unqualified opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause Landsvirkjun to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

¢ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Consolidated Financial Statements of Landsvirkjun 2019 9



Independent Auditors' Report, contd.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Reykjavik, 28 February 2020.

Deloitte ehf.

Porsteinn Pétur Gudjénsson
Auditor

Pétur Hansson
Auditor
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Income Statement

Notes 2019 2018
Operating revenues
oo YL =T Y | 1= 4 409,715 443,568
Realised aluminium hEAEES .........uiiiriiiiiiiiieiee e 10,047 ( 4,534)
TrANSIMISSION «evvueiiiiiiieeiiiieeeretieeeeet e e etteeerereeererteeresaneesrssaeerssasessssneessssnneenens 4 80,112 87,387
(04 o [T T o Tole] o o =T PR PSP SRPUPPR 9,720 7,500
509,594 533,921
Operating expenses
Energy 8eneration COSES ...ttt ettt e e e 144,667 145,486
TranSMISSION COSES ...iiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e e eeeeeeree e e e e e et e ee e e e e e e eeeas e e e e e eeeesnnsnnaaaeaeaees 67,686 67,929
Cost of general reSEarch ..o 16,662 10,313
Other Operating EXPENSES ....ccviiiiiiieiieriee sttt sttt e e e seeesbeessreesane 40,071 45,761
269,086 269,489
OPerating Profit ....cceeeecceiiieeecciirierceer e reenesee e rernne e e e s eesnnneesseennnnsesessennnnnanns 3 240,508 264,432
Financial income and (financial expenses)
[} (=T 1] T [0 o o 1= 2,705 2,980
INTEIEST EXPENSES ..etiieiiiiieeiieteiitee ettt e e ste e e sbte e s satee e st beeesateessabaeessnbeeenanes ( 70,400) ( 84,955)
Foreign exchange difference ......ccoouveeenieinieiiec e 8,754 22,811
Fair value changes in embedded derivatives .........ccccceevcieenieenieeseesieesie e 32 1,323) ( 49,410)
Fair value changes in other derivatives .........c.cccoveeireniiincncee ( 8,011) 24,878
7 ( 68,275) ( 83,696)
AsSOCIated COMPANIES ...ecviceieeiieieetiecteete e e steeteete e e teeae s e e beesbesraesbeessesraenseas 14 27) | 179)
Profit before income taX......ccccceeeeeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeerc 172,206 180,557
INCOME TAX .ettieieiiie et ettt e et e e ettt e e et e e e e bt e e e teeeeebeeeeeasaeeeaseeeetseeeensaeeeansenans 8 ( 59,529) ( 59,528)
Net profit for the year .........ccceeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinnnrrrrrrrsssssse e 112,677 121,029
Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent ComMPany .......ccoeceeeieenieenieeiee et 102,764 107,932
Minority interest in sUbSIAIAries ........ccceviiiiiiiiiii e 9,913 13,097
112,677 121,029

Notes 1 to 63 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

2019 2018
Net profit for the Year ..o 112,677 121,029
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Pension obligation after income tax, change ........cccceviieeiiiiee e ( 1,345) ( 2,293)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Translation difference due to subsidiaries and associated companies ............. ( 907) ( 2,492)
Total operating items moved to equity ( 2,252) ( 4,785)
Total Comprehensive Income for the year ..........ccccocoeveviiev e, 110,425 116,244
Total Comprehensive Income attributable to:
Owners of the Parent COMPanY ....c.ceeoviieeeiiiieiiiieenieee et sree e sene e ssaeee s 100,605 103,419
Minority interest in sUDSIIAries ........ccceveviieeeciii e 9,820 12,825
110,425 116,244

Notes 1 to 63 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheet

Assets Notes 2019 2018

Non-current assets

Property, plant and eqUIPMENt .....cociiiiiiiiiiniieeee e e 9 3,945,821 4,013,546
Projects Under CONSTIUCTION ....ccccuviiieceiee e e ere e e sre e e e rereeeeaes 10 47,443 22,573
[BTSY7<T Lo o] a1 oY Ao o 1 R PSPSE 11 133,610 140,698
Other intangible @SSets .......uiiii i e 11 48,234 48,067
Derivative financial iNSTIUMENTS .......eieiieiiiiiiiieeeceeee e e 13 6,429 13,342
AsSOCIated COMPANIES ...c.eiiiiiiee ettt et e e e e e e e e e e sbra e e e e e eeanraes 14 626 11,070
Other NON-CUITENT @SSELS ....uiiieiiieiciieeciee et e e e e reee et e e s e et e e e ae e e enneas 15 984 762
Deferred taX @SSEL ..uuiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt e e e e a e e e e arraeeas 8 0 14

Total non-current assets 4,183,147 4,250,072

Current assets

[N V7=T o o] o [P S 18 5,248 5,530
Accounts receivables and other receivables ........ccoovveiiiiieiinieeenic e, 19 74,715 68,943
Derivative financial iNStrUMENtS .........cooeeiiiiiiiii e 13 8,036 10,258
Cash and cash eqUIValENtS .........ceeeieiiicee e 20 110,487 116,278
Total current assets 198,486 201,009

Total assets 4,381,633 4,451,081

Equity and liabilities

Equity
OWNeErs' CONTHBULIONS ...oiiiiiieiiiiii e 21 586,512 586,512
ReVvaluation aCCOUNT .........vviiiiiiceeee et e e e e arae e 22 158,184 164,053
RESTICLEA FESEIVES ...viiiiieiiieiee ettt sttt st sreesaeas 22 47,191 32,838
Translation differeNCe ...oouvivieiie s 22 41,570) ( 40,756)
(0] 4 =TT o U Y USRSt 1,347,066 1,289,803
Equity of the owners of the Parent Company 2,097,383 2,032,450
MINOFITY INTEIEST i e e e e e e e e e e e e aaaae s 138,016 130,606
Total equity 2,235,399 2,163,056
Long term liabilities
Interest bearing Habilities .........couciiiiee e 23 1,543,288 1,808,579
Pension fund obligation ... e 25 36,863 38,015
Deferred income tax liability ......coccueevieriieiniiie e 8 160,295 130,733
LEase liability ..eeeeeeeeieeeeeeeee e 16 5,675 0
Obligation due to demolition ........coocuiiiiiiiiinie e 26 12,212 9,011
T o= 1o [T o Tolo 3 o =Y 2,701 2,847
Derivative financial iNStrUMENtS .........cooeeiiiiiiiii e e 13 4,140 11,538
1,765,174 2,000,723
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and other payables .......ccoouiiiiiiiiiiiie e 27 77,720 73,102
Interest bearing abilities ........ccviieciee i 24 258,661 192,302
INCOME 1aX PAYADIE ..eiiiiiiieee e 8 28,837 18,586
Derivative financial iNSTIUMENTS ......eeieiieiiiiiiiiieeceeeee et e 13 15,842 3,312
381,060 287,302
Total liabilities 2,146,234 2,288,025
Total equity and liabilities 4,381,633 4,451,081

Notes 1 to 63 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Equity
Equity attrib-
utable to the
owners of the
Owners' Revaluation Restricted Translation Other Parent Minority Total
contribution account reserves difference equity Company interest equity
Changes in equity year 2018
Equity at 1 January 2018........ccccevvveerieenieriieenieennnenn 586,512 169,329 10,390 (  38,536) 1,216,571 1,944,266 118,847 2,063,113
Translation difference.........cccccoeveeiieecccieeeciieceee, ( 2,220) ( 2,220) ( 272) ( 2,492)
Pension obligation, change..........ccccevvvvvivcvee e, ( 2,293) ( 2,293) ( 2,293)
Net profit for the year.........coccovvieiiiiiciiiiiee, 107,932 107,932 13,097 121,029
Total Comprehensive INCOME.........ccceeecveeeeceneeennen. 0 0 ( 2,220) 105,639 103,419 12,825 116,244
Share of profit of subsidiaries
and associated COMPaNIes.......cccevcvveeerciveeenenee s, 22,448 ( 22,448) 0 0 0
Revaluation transferred
10 Other eqUItY....coovviriieeeiee e 5,276) 5,276 0 0 0
Dividend paid t0 OWNErS......cccceeeeiuvieeeiieeeeiiee e, ( 15,234) ( 15,234) ( 1,066) ( 16,300)
Equity at 31 December 2018 .......ccccceevveviveeriieeneennne 586,512 164,053 32,838 ( 40,756) 1,289,803 2,032,450 130,606 2,163,056
Changes in equity year 2019
Equity at 1 January 2019.......cccceeveevieeneeniee e 586,512 164,053 32,838 (  40,756) 1,289,803 2,032,450 130,606 2,163,056
Translation difference........cccceevevevceeevcieeccee e, ( 814) ( 814) ( 93) ( 907)
Pension obligation, change.........cccccoeeeviieecieeecneennn. ( 1,345) ( 1,345) ( 1,345)
Net profit for the year........ccococeeeceeeeccee e, 102,764 102,764 9,913 112,677
Total Comprehensive Income........cccceeevveeeecvveeennnee. 0 0 ( 814) 101,419 100,605 9,820 110,425
Share of profit of subsidiaries
and associated companies.........cccccveeeecvveeeecieee e, 14,353 ( 14,353) 0 0 0
Revaluation transferred
to other equity....cooccveeirciiiiiiee e 5,869) 5,869 0 0 0
Dividend paid t0 OWNErS......cccvveecuvieeeieeeeree e ( 35,672) ( 35,672) ( 2,410) ( 38,082)
Equity at 31 December 2019 .......ccccvevveecreesiieenneenne 586,512 158,184 47,191 ( 41,570) 1,347,066 2,097,383 138,016 2,235,399
Notes 1 to 63 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flow

2019 2018
Operating activities
OpPerating Profit ..c.cooceeeieeiecee e 240,508 264,432
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and impairment 0SS .......occvvveerieinieniee e 134,779 125,448
Pension obligation, Change ..ot ( 1,821) ( 1,972)
Obligation due to demolition, change .......cccocvvvierieiniiinienceenieeen 3,201 460
Other ChaNEES ..cooeeiiiieeee et e ( 105) ( 56)
Working capital from operation before financial items 376,562 388,312
Operating assets, ChaNge .......ccueieeiei e 2,091 ( 2,581)
Operating liabilities, Change .......cccevviiiiiiniiie e 875 292
Cash flow from operating activities before financial items 379,528 386,023
INterest iNCOME FECEIVEM ......vvveeiiieiiiieeiee et e 2,762 3,062
Interest expenses and foreign exchange difference paid ................... ( 68,397) ( 75,868)
TAXES PRI cereveeiieiiee ettt s ( 18,129) ( 17,456)
Cash flow from operating activities 295,764 295,761
Investing activities
Power stations in 0peration .......cccccocuverieiiiiiiiiniin e ( 33,273) ( 37,299)
Power stations under construction ..........ccceeceeeiiieeeniiee e 0 68,474)
TrAaNSMISSION c.euuiiieiiiieeeitee ettt et e et e e s e s e e s e e seareeesnneeeenreesenns ( 39,833) ( 26,330)
Power plant preparation COSt .......ccooviiieieiiieceiec e e ( 1,869) ( 5,245)
Purchased shares in other companies .......cccceceveevirinenieneneenee ( 390) ( 622)
Other capital eXpenditures ........ccevveiinieeiiieeeeee e ( 7,270) 12,914)
ASSELS SOIT .ttt s 368 107
Other receivables, Change ..o ( 153) ( 87)
Investing activities ( 82,420) ( 150,864)
Financing activities
Dividend paid t0 OWNETS ..cceeviiiiiiieeieeeeiee ettt ( 26,625) ( 14,246)
NEW JO@NS ittt e e et e e e e eeaarer e e e s senanrreeeees 0 267,213
Amortisation of long-term debt .........cccooviiiiiiiiii ( 191,467) ( 405,102)
CUFTENCY SWAPS -reeeeeeieiirrieeeeeieiereeeesesesrereeeesesnnreeeeessessnnneeeesssannnnnneeens ( 169) 259
Financing activities ( 218,261) ( 151,876)
Change in cash and cash equivalents ............cccccccovniiiiiiiiininienniien, ( 4917) ( 6,979)
Effect of exchange difference on cash and cash equivalents .............. ( 874) ( 3,287)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year .................... 116,278 126,544
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year .............................. 110,487 116,278
Investing- and financing activities without payments:
Y 0 F= T =T« SR 10,488 0
DivIidend Paid .ococeveeieiiieeiee e s ( 10,488) 0

Notes 1 to 63 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes

General Information

1. Landsvirkjun
Landsvirkjun is a partnership having its place of business in Iceland and its headquarters at Haaleitisbraut 68,
Reykjavik. Landsvirkjun operates on the basis of the Act on Landsvirkjun No. 42/1983. The Company’s objective is
to engage in operations in the energy sector. The financial statements include the consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (referred to as "the Group") and share of profit or loss of
associated companies.

Basis of preparation

a. Statement of IFRS compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and additional requirements in Icelandic Financial Statements Act.

The Company’s Board of Directors approved the financial statements on 28 February 2020.

Note 44 includes information on the Group's significant accounting policies and changes therein in the year.

b. Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following assets and
liabilities, which have been measured at fair value; derivative financial instruments, trading financial assets and
shares in other companies. Operating assets and assets held for sale are recognised at the lower of book value or
fair value. Operating assets of the subsidiaries Landsnet hf. and Orkufjarskipti hf. are recognised at revalued cost.
Transmission network of the subsidiary Landsnet hf. was revalued during the year 2015, see note 9.

c. Presentation and functional currency
The financial statements are presented in USD, which is the Parent Company’s functional currency. All financial
information presented in USD has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

d. Management's use of estimate and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and the effect of the changes are
entered in the periods that the changes are made and in subsequent periods if the change also affects those
periods.

Information on management’s estimates and decisions made in relation to the application of accounting methods
that significantly affect the financial statements are presented in the following notes:

- notes 9 and 53 property, plant and equipment

- notes 11 and 54 development cost and other intangible assets
- notes 13, 30, 32, 33, 34 derivative financial instruments

- notes 8 and 52 income tax

- note 25 pension fund obligations
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Notes, contd.

Basis of preparation, contd.:

e. Determination of fair value
The Group’s accounting policies and disclosures can require measurement of fair values, for both financial and
non-financial assets and liabilities.

To the extent possible the Group uses market information in determining fair values but if such information is not
available management's evaluation is used.

For derivatives, other than embedded derivatives, counterparty information is used where applicable to measure
fair values. Then treasury division compares this to its own assessment and confirms that such valuations meet
the requirements of IFRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations should be
classified.

Fair values are categorised into different levels in the fair value hierarchy based on assumptions used in the
valuation techniques as follows.
Level 1; quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2; assumptions based on other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that can be acquired for
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

Level 3; assumptions for value of asset or liability that are not based on available market data.

If the assumptions used to measure fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorised in different levels of
the fair value hierarchy, the fair value measurement is categorised in the lowest level.

If the categorisation of fair value during the accounting period changes, it is transferred between levels at the end
of the period.

Further information on the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the following notes:
- note 13 derivative financial instruments
- note 32 embedded derivatives

- note 39 long-term debt
- note 53 property, plant and equipment

3. Segment reporting
Segment information is presented according to the nature of the operation and is based on the Group’s
organisation and internal disclosure.

Landsvirkjun Group’s operating segments are specified as follows:

Electricity generation

The operations of the Parent Company fall under the segment electricity generation but Landsvirkjun’s objective
according to law is to operate in the energy sector and operate other business and financial operations according
to decision of the Board of Directors at each time. Landsvirkjun harnesses hydroelectric power, geothermal power
and wind power. Landsvirkjun sells all its electricity generation in Iceland, on the one hand to retail sales
companies, and on the other to energy intensive industrial users. Furthermore, the operation of Icelandic Power
Insurance Ltd. falls under this segment. The purpose of Icelandic Power Insurance Ltd. is to take care of
insurances for Landsvirkjun’s power stations.

Electricity transmission

The operations of Landsnet hf. fall under the segment electricity transmission. The purpose of Landsnet hf. is to
operate the electricity transmission network and system management in Iceland according to provisions of
Chapter Il of the Energy Act No. 65/2003 and may thus not carry out other operations than are necessary in
order to fulfill its obligations according to the Energy Act.
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Notes, contd.

3. Segment reporting, contd.:
Other segments
Other segments include the operations of Orkufjarskipti hf. and Landsvirkjun Power ehf. The purpose of
Orkufjarskipti hf. is to own and operate a telecommunications system which is necessary for the shareholders'
electricity operations throughout the country and to rent access thereto in accordance with availability and law.
Landsvirkjun Power ehf. takes care of sales of technical and operational advisory services to third parties and
general research work, harnessing researches and projects for Landsvirkjun and related companies.

Almost all the operations of the Group are based in Iceland.

Electricity Electricity Other

Operating segments year 2019 generation transmission segments Adjustments Total
Income from third party ........ccccuvveeennn. 427,314 80,888 1,392 509,594
Income within the Group ........ccccuveeene 15,312 59,443 4,267 ( 79,022) 0
Segment iNCOME .......cocvveeeeiieeeciieeennee. 442,626 140,331 5,659 ( 79,022) 509,594
Segment operating expenses ................ ( 145,694) ( 63,720) ( 3,915) 79,022 ( 134,307)
EBITDA .ot 296,932 76,611 1,744 0 375,287
Depreciation and impairment loss ........ ( 104,708) ( 29,641) ( 841) 411 (  134,779)
Segment earnings, EBIT ..........cccceeeennne 192,224 46,970 903 411 240,508
Segment assets 2019 ......cccceevcveeeriieenns 3,864,603 845,797 22,101 ( 351,494) 4,381,007
Associated companies ........cccceeeveeenneen. 270 6,510 356 ( 6,510) 626
Total assets 2019 .....ovveeereeeeeeeeereeeenns 3,864,873 852,307 22,457 (  358,004) 4,381,633
Segment liabilities 2019 .........ccccevveenneee. 1,751,794 460,995 5,863 ( 72,418) 2,146,234
Total liabilities 2019 .......cccccceevcvverveennen. 1,751,794 460,995 5,863 ( 72,418) 2,146,234
Investing activities ......cccocceeevcieeiniieennns 37,082 43,711 1,453 0 82,246
Operating segments year 2018

Income from third party ........ccccuvveeennn. 444,377 88,193 1,351 0 533,921
Income within the Group ........ccccveeene 15,029 65,946 5,021 ( 85,996) 0
Segment iNCOME .......cocveeeeciieeeeieeeennee. 459,406 154,139 6,372 ( 85,996) 533,921
Segment operating expenses ................ ( 161,390) ( 63,903) ( 4,744) 85,996 ( 144,041)
EBITDA ..oooiieieeete ettt 298,016 90,236 1,628 0 389,880
Depreciation and impairment loss ........ ( 95,094) ( 29,643) ( 1,120) 409 (  125,448)
Segment earnings, EBIT .......cccccceeveevnnne 202,922 60,593 508 409 264,432
Segment assets 2018 .......cccccccveeeeereenns 3,927,241 839,517 21,130 ( 347,878) 4,440,010
Associated companies ........cccceeeveeenneen. 10,909 6,815 161 ( 6,815) 11,070
Total assets 2018 ....o.evveeeveeeeeeeeeereean 3,938,150 846,332 21,291 (  354,693) 4,451,081
Segment liabilities 2018 ........................ 1,889,722 476,027 4,056 ( 81,780) 2,288,025
Total liabilities 2018 .........cccceevveervennen. 1,889,722 476,027 4,056 ( 81,780) 2,288,025
Investing activities ........ccccceeeeciieeeeennnnns 114,375 34,279 1,609 0 150,263
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Notes, contd.

4. Operating revenues 2019 2018
Power sales are specified as follows:

Retail SAlES COMPANIES ....cecceiiiiciie et e s rae e e st e e essea e e senaneesnaeeaan 77,152 90,760
POWET INTENSIVE USEIS ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e eaeaaaaaeaeaeeeeeeeeeeasesesenenanans 332,563 352,808
POWET SAIES TOTAl .vvviiiiiiiiiiie e 409,715 443,568

Revenues from transmission are specified as follows:

=01 4 11533 o L o RPNt 69,488 75,554

Transmission losses, grid service and other transmission revenues 10,624 11,833

TranSMISSION tOTAl ..ceeiiiiiiiiei e et e e et e e e e e e aaar e e e e e e anraeeeas 80,112 87,387

In notes no. 44 and 47 is further accounted for the registration of revenues of the Group.

5. Total number of employees

Total number of employees of the Group is specified as follows:

Average number of employees during the year, full-time equivalents ........................ 482 470

Full-time equivalent units at year-end .........cocccevcieerienniiineeneeeee e 437 429

Total number of employees of the parent company is specified as follows:

Average number of employees during the year, full-time equivalents ........................ 330 330

Full-time equivalent units at Year-end .........cocceviienieiiiiiieeneeeee e 288 295

6. Total salaries of employees

Total salaries of employees are specified as follows:

Y1 14 1O PP PSPPSR OPPPPPUPPRRIN 52,145 56,522

Contribution to defined contribution plans ... 7,660 8,226

Defined pension benefit payments .......cccccoveeiiiiiinniinc e, 2,616 2,930

Other change in pension obligations ( 1,821) ( 1,972)

Other salary related EXPENSES ...cooiiii ettt e e st e s s 4,978 5,454
65,578 71,160

TranSTErred 10 @SSELS ..vivuiiiiieiieiiie sttt e st eebe e st e e saee e beesaeenaaeen ( 6,535) ( 8,823)
59,043 62,337

Salaries and salary related expenses are allocated as follows:

Energy Generation COSES ...ttt 22,997 24,2901

TraNSMISSION COSES iniiiiitieii ittt et e e ettt e e e e e sttt e e e e s e bt e e e e e e seanraeeeens 13,394 13,272

Other OPerating EXPENSES ...ccvviiiiiiiieriee sttt ertee ettt st e st e sbeesibe e sbaessbeesabeesabesbeen 29,187 33,597

TranSTErred t0 @SSELS ..uivuiiiiieiieiiiesieesiee et see ettt e ae e e e te e sb e e st e e beesbeesaeeneaeen ( 6,535) ( 8,823)
59,043 62,337

Salaries of the Boards of Directors, CEO, Deputy CEO and Executive Directors are specified as follows:

Salaries of the Board of Directors of the parent company ........ccccceeeecverennenn. 176 195
Salaries of the Boards of Directors of two subsidiaries (same as in 2018) 157 174
Salaries and benefits of the CEO of the parent company ......cccccccvevieeeccieccccee e, 338 379
Salaries of five Directors and the Deputy CEO (same as in year-end 2018) ................. 1,414 1,578
Salaries and benefits of the CEO and 7 Man. Dir. of subsid. (same as in year-end 2018) ........... 1,641 1,700
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Notes, contd.

7. Financial income and (expenses)

Financial income and (expenses) are specified as follows: 2019 2018
LT} =T 1] T [0 o o 1= 2,705 2,980
INTEIEST EXPENSES ...viiveeerieeieesttesiteeitee st e steestes e teesbeesateesseesbeeenseessseessaeesessnseassseenes ( 68,649) ( 84,536)
GUATANTEE FEE 1ttt st sbe e e aaesbe e sabeesaeeenbes ( 2,883) ( 5,413)
[[aTe 1= Y o o PR ( 1,077) ( 1,408)
Capitalised INTErESt COSTS .iiiiiuiiiiiiiiriiiee et eetee et e e e etre e et e e et e e s nee e e snaeeesnaeeas 2,209 6,402
TOtal INTEIES EXPENSES ..uveiieiiesiie ettt eitee st e ste et e erteesaeestaeesteesabeessaeesseeesseesaseesaseensnennne ( 70,400) ( 84,955)
Realised foreign exchange difference ........ccocevvviiriiniiiniee e 464 1,797
Unrealised foreign exchange difference ..o 8,290 21,014
Total foreign exchange differenCe ........uvvvceeee e 8,754 22,811
Fair value changes in embedded derivatives ........cccoceeicieeecieenieeniecee e ( 1,323) ( 49,410)
Fair value changes in other derivatives ... ( 8,011) 24,878
Total financial iINCOME aNd (EXPENSES) ...veieeeuiiieeiiie et ettt ettt aee e e veeeenes ( 68,275) ( 83,696)

Capitalised finance cost amounted to 4.6% (2018: 5.1%) of invested cash in transmission under construction but
no such cost was capitalised in 2019 due to power stations under construction (2018: 3,8%).

8. Income tax

Income tax is specified as follows: 2019 2018
Change in income tax asset / [iability ........ccoveiieieiieiiece e ( 29,577) ( 39,465)
INCOME tAX PAYADIE oottt st ( 28,837) ( 18,586)
Income tax recognised among comprehensive iNCOME .........ccocueeveeeiieeneenieenieeieens ( 810) ( 1,382)
Foreign exchange and translation difference .........cooevveiiniiniiniccve e, ( 51) ( 150)
(0] 4 01T ool o = g F= T PP PR PR PUPPTRUPPRRIN ( 255) 54
INCOME LAX EXPENSEU .nviieiiiiiieeiie ettt sttt ettt et sbe e s be e st e e saaesbeesbeesateesseesaseesas ( 59,529) ( 59,528)
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Notes, contd.

8.

Income tax, contd.:

Effective tax rate 2019 2018
Profit for the year .......ccovcieeiiiii e, 112,677 121,029
Income tax for the year .......cceveevceenieniec e 59,529 59,528
Profit before income taX ......ccoovvveeviiiieinicieeerieeeeeeee 172,206 180,557
Income tax acc. to the parent company’s tax rate ......... 37.6% 64,749 37.6% 67,889
Effect of different tax rates within the Group ................ (3.7%) ( 6,397) (4.6%) ( 8,252)
Non-taxable and non-deductible items .........ccccceeeuennee. 0.7% 1,177 (0.1%) ( 110)
Effective inCOmMe taX .....cccceeevciiiieee e 34.6% 59,529 33.0% 59,528
Income tax due to items recognised in other comprehensive income is specified as

. 2019 2018
follows:
Income tax due to pension obligation recognised in other comprehensive income ... 810) ( 1,382)

Changes in the tax asset / liability during the year is specified as follows:
Deferred tax asset

810) ( 1,382)

Deferred tax liability
2019 2018
130,733) ( 91,268)
29,577) ( 39,468)
37) ( 149)
52 152

160,295) (  130,733)

143 187
172,599) (  144,035)
1,255) ( 4,765)
13,416 17,881

2019 2018
Balance at the beginning of the year .........ccccceeeuvvenee. 14 14
Change in temporary difference .......ccocoevveeveeeieenceenns ( 13) ( 24)
Change in carry forward [0Ss ........ccoeceeviieeniienneiinienieee 0 26
Foreign exchange and translation difference ................ ( 1) ( 2)
Balance at year end ......ccoccevvvveeriienienrec e 0 14
The Group's deferred tax asset / liability is specified as follows:
Carry forward [0SS ......cooviieeiiiiieiiee e 35 36
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets ... 0 0
Derivative financial instruments .......cccoccceevvieeinnienennnee. 0 0
Other ItEMS eeveieeiieieeee e ( 35) ( 22)
Balance at year end .......cccvvvviiiinien e 0 14

160,295) (  130,733)

The Group’s carry forward tax losses may be utilised for 10 years from when it is incurred and are specified as

follows:

Carry forward loss of the year 2015, usable until the year 2025 ..........cccceeeeeivvieeeennn.
Carry forward loss of the year 2016, usable until the year 2026 ..........cccceevevveeennennn.
Carry forward loss of the year 2017, usable until the year 2027 ........ccccceeeeeecvvveenenn.
Carry forward loss of the year 2018, usable until the year 2028 ..........cccocveeevveeennennn.
Carry forward 10ss at Year @Nd ..........ueeiiiiiiiiiiee e

210 411
424 441
140 146
114 119
888 1,117

Deferred tax asset is recognised as asset as management considers it likely that it will be utilised against future
taxable profit. Carry forward loss is recognised in Icelandic krona and, therefore, the exchange rate of the USD

affects the carry forward loss at each year end.
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9. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is specified as follows:

Communi-
Power Trans- cation Other

Cost value stations mission equipment assets Total
Total value at 1.1.2018 .......ccccecuvrveennnn. 5,294,072 982,011 28,131 73,179 6,377,393
Effect of exchange rate changes ........... 0 0 ( 2,997) 0 ( 2,997)
Additions during the year ..................... 37,990 6,113 1,702 7,091 52,896
Transferred from projects under

(o101 1) 1 U Lot o] o A 264,867 11,644 0 0 276,511
Sold and disposed Of .......ccccevcveeriennnen. 0 0 0 ( 528) ( 528)
Total value at 31.12.2018 ...................... 5,596,929 999,768 26,836 79,742 6,703,275
Effect of exchange rate changes ........... 0 0 ( 1,035) 0 ( 1,035)
Additions during the year ..................... 27,674 5,317 1,831 8,602 43,424
Transferred from projects under

(o113 11 1 U To1 o] o AP 0 17,236 0 0 17,236
Sold and disposed Of .......cccccevcveeriennnenn. 0 ( 7) ( 59) ( 3,040) ( 3,106)
Total value at 31.12.2019 .........ccuueeeee.. 5,624,603 1,022,314 27,573 85,304 6,759,794
Depreciation and impairment loss
Total value at 1.1.2018 .......ccocveevveenene 2,238,341 284,478 10,705 33,612 2,567,136
Effect of exchange rate changes ........... 0 0 ( 1,173) 0 ( 1,173)
Depreciation for the year ...................... 92,756 27,061 1,138 3,290 124,245
Sold and disposed Of ........cccceecvverveennnnn 0 0 0 ( 478) ( 478)
Total value at 31.12.2018 ........ccovveeneee 2,331,097 311,539 10,670 36,424 2,689,730
Effect of exchange rate changes ........... 0 0 ( 409) 0 ( 409)
Depreciation for the year ...................... 95,821 27,034 857 3,393 127,105
Sold and disposed Of .......ccccceecvverveennnn. 0 ( 7) | 45) ( 2,403) ( 2,455)
Total value at 31.12.2019 ......ccccevvveuenne 2,426,918 338,566 11,073 37,414 2,813,971
Book value
1212008 oot 3,055,731 697,533 17,426 39,567 3,810,257
31.12.2018 ..ot 3,265,832 688,229 16,166 43,318 4,013,546
31.12.2019 weoeeeeeeeee e, 3,197,685 683,748 16,499 47,889 3,945,821
Book value without revaluation
1.1.2018 .ot 3,055,731 446,573 16,844 39,567 3,558,715
31.12.2018 oo, 3,265,832 447,335 15,722 43,318 3,772,208
31.12.2009 eoiiiiieeeeee e 3,197,685 454,100 16,147 47,889 3,715,822

Official assessment of fixed assets and insurance value

The official assessment of the Company’s real estates amounted to USD 499 million at year end 2019 (2018: USD
499 million). Insurance value of the Company’s assets amounts to USD 5,910 million (2018: USD 5,470 million)
and catastrophe insurance value amounts to USD 1.008 million (2018: USD 1.048 million).
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9. Property, plant and equipment, contd.:

Assumptions relating to revaluation of property, plant and equipment

In accordance with provision of IFRS the Group's transmission network and communication equipment were
revalued during the year 2008 and powerlines and connection masts of Landsnet hf. at year end 2015. Two
methods were applied when performing the revaluation. On one hand it is done by looking at the assets'
replacement cost which was calculated by independent experts at the beginning of the year 2015 and projected
to the end of the year 2015. On the other hand the value of the assets in operation is calculated by cash flow
analysis. The forecast period was from the year 2016 until 2025 and after that terminal value of the operations
was calculated. The revaluation was based on operational value of the assets and assumed the investments would
be equal to depreciations of assets. Discounting of future cash flows was based on weighted average cost of
capital (WACC) which Landsnet hf. is allocated for energy intensive industrial users and distribution companies.
The revaluation is classified at level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

10. Projects under construction

Projects under construction are specified as follows: 2019 2018
BalanCe @t 1.1, .oooiiiiiee e e e e e e a e e e e e e n e e e e e e e e aaaaaaaaaeaan 22,573 232,425
Transferred from/to development COSES .....cuiiiiiiieriiiciie e 3,340 ( 2,771)
Additions dUNNG the VAT .....coeeeeeeeeeee e e 38,768 69,430
Transferred to property, plant and equUIPMENt .....coviiriiiiiiiiieeee e ( 17,238) (  276,511)
Balance @t 31.12. .o e e e et e e e e et aa e e e e e eeanraaeaaaaan 47,443 22,573

11. Development cost and other intangible assets
Development cost and other intangible assets are specified as follows:

Capitalised Water and
development  geothermal

costs rights Software Total
Cost value
Total value at 1.1.2018 .....covvvivieiiiiieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee, 215,318 45,611 10,459 271,388
Additions during the year ........ccccceveeeeiiiiee e, 8,131 0 334 8,465
Transferred from projects under construction .............. 2,771 0 0 2,771
Total value at 31.12.2018 ......ccvrriieeceecieeee e 226,220 45,611 10,793 282,624
Sold and disposed Of .......cccceevcieeeeciie e, 0 0 ( 882) ( 882)
Additions during the year ........ccocceeeeeiciiieee e 3,379 0 713 4,092
Transferred to projects under construction ................... ( 3,340) 0 0 ( 3,340)
Total value at 31.12.2019 .....ccoeeeeiiiieieeeeeee e 226,259 45,611 10,624 282,494
Depreciation and impairment loss
Total value at 1.1.2018 .....ooeeeiieiieiiee e 85,000 0 7,657 92,657
Amortisation during the year .........cccceeveiciiiieicccnnenn. 0 0 680 680
Impairment loss during the year .......cccccoevvvveeeeiveeeneee, 523 0 0 523
Total value at 31.12.2018 ......coooeeeiiieeiieeeiee e 85,523 0 8,337 93,860
Amortisation during the year ......cccccveveeeeccieececree e, 0 0 546 546
Impairment loss during the year .......cccccoeccvvveeeeeecnnneen.. 7,127 0 0 7,127
Sold and disposed Of ........cccceeveiriiirieenieereeee e 0 0 ( 882) ( 882)
Total value at 31.12.2019 ... 92,650 0 8,001 100,651
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Capitalised Water and
11. Development cost and other intangible assets, contd.: development geothermal

Book value costs rights Software
T.1.2008 e 130,319 45,611 2,802
31.12.2018 140,698 45,611 2,456
31.12.2019 133,610 45,611 2,623

Total
178,732
188,765
181,844

Development cost is reviewed every year by management and checked whether there are indications of
impairment. In testing for possible impairment the Parent Company's forecast on expected cash flow over the
useful life of the assets was used. In the evaluation expected cash flow was discounted with the rate of 5.25%
(2018: 5.14%) of weighted average required rate of return. If management concludes that impairment has

occurred the relevant development cost is expensed as impairment.

12. Depreciation and impairment loss

The Group’s depreciation and impairment is specified as follows: 2019 2018
Power stations 95,821 92,756
TransmMIisSioON ..cuuveeceerereeeeeeeicere e e e eeeeeeens 27,034 27,061
Telecommunication EQUIPMENT ......ciii i e e e e e 857 1,138
OTNEE @SSEIS wuvviiiiiieieeiee ettt ee et e e e e estbb e e e eeeebbaaeeeesesbareeeeeesesbeneeeeeenssres 3,393 3,290
Depreciation of assets in OPEration .......cccccecciiiiieiieciee e e 127,105 124,245
Impairment [0ss on developmMENT COSt ....uuiiiiiiiiiiiie et 7,127 523
AmOrtisation Of SOFtWAre ........uviiiiiee e e e e 546 680
134,779 125,448
The Group’s depreciation and impairment is allocated as follows by sectors:
Energy generation costs 96,694 93,628
Transmission COStS .....cevvvvveceeereeereeennnne. 28,557 28,485
Cost of general research 6,550 0
Other OPErating EXPENSES ...ccccuviiiciieeeiteeeeiiee e ste e et e e eere e e sareeestaeesrnseeesseeeennsaeesnnnes 2,978 3,335
134,779 125,448
13. Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments in the balance sheet are specified as follows: 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Assets:
Embedded derivatives in POWEr CONTIACES .......vveeciiieiiiieeeiiee e e e e e seeee e 5,575 6,674
AlUMINTIUM NEUZES ettt sttt e e s e e s sbee e s sabeeessnbeeesans 3,656 10,177
CUPTENCY SWAPS -reeeeeeienirereeeeiaiereeeesesasrerteeesesnnrereesesasreneeeesesnsreeeeessesnnnreeeesesannnnneeeens 5,234 6,749
14,465 23,600
Derivative financial instruments are divided as follows:
Long-term component of derivative agreements ........ccecveeiiiieeeniiieeiiee e 6,429 13,342
Short-term component of derivative agreements .......cocceevveriieeieenieenieniee e 8,036 10,258
14,465 23,600
Liabilities:
Embedded derivatives in pPOWET CONTIaCES .......eevvviiiiiiiieeiriiee et see e 2,864 2,640
AlUMINIUM NEAZES ..eeeviieeeiee et e e re e e e e et te e e e et e e eenaaeesasaeeessreeenans 1,290 1,786
CUITENCY SWAPS -eetteeteeiuiitteeeesaittteeeeesasbeteeeesesasteeeeeesaanebeeeeaesaasbeteeeesaaansbeeeeeesannnnneaeens 15,828 10,424
19,982 14,850
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13. Derivative financial instruments, contd.: 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Derivative financial instruments are divided as follows:
Long-term component of derivative agreements ........ccocveeiiiieeiniieenciee e 4,140 11,538
Short-term component of derivative agreements .......ccoceevveriieeieenieenieniee e 15,842 3,312
19,982 14,850

The assumptions for valuation of embedded derivatives are discussed in note 32.

The fair value of other derivatives than embedded derivatives is based on Landsvirkjun's evaluation and available
evaluation of counterparties, where applicable, and verified by the treasury department with comparative
calculations based on market information.

14. Associated companies
Shares in associated companies recognised according to the equity method are specified as follows:

2019

Share in Book

Share return value

(01 5] O 65 o - [« F- T U PR 33.0% 0 188

Heimsping ehf., Reykjavik, Iceland .......cccccouerviiiiiiniiiniiieniee e, 33.3% (5) (3)

SER eignarhaldsfélag ehf., Reykjavik, Iceland ...........cccccceevereenieeennennn. 35.4% (33) 261

Sjavarorka ehf., Reykjavik, Iceland ........cccccooveeniiiniiniiiiieneiceeee 33.6% 0 12

LP-Verkis, GEOIZIa ...ccceiuiiieiieiciiee ettt ettt 40.0% (2) 5

HECIQ SAS, FrANCE wuveeieiiieiiieeee ettt eeettee et eesabrae e e e e e anrreee s 28.5% 13 163

(27) 626

2018

Share in Book

Share return value

Farice ehf., Kopavogur, Iceland ...........ccccvieeeiiiiiciiiiecieeeee e, 33.2% (131) 10,587

Heimsping ehf., Reykjavik, Iceland .......c.cccooerveiiiiiniiiniiieneeieeee, 33.3% 0 2

SER eignarhaldsfélag ehf., Reykjavik, Iceland ...........cccccoeeveieenineennennn. 35.4% (54) 307

Sjavarorka ehf., Reykjavik, Iceland ........cccccoeveeriiiiniiniiiiiiinieieeeee 33.6% 0 13

LP-Verkis, GEOIZIa ...cccciuiieeiieeciiee ettt ettt ettt 40.0% (9) 8

HECIQ SAS, FIrANCE .uveviiiiieiiieeee ettt ettt eesabrae e e e e s eanraeee s 28.5% 15 153

(179) 11,070

15. Other non-current assets 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Other long-term assets in the balance sheet are specified as follows:

Shares in Other COMPANIES ...cooviiiiiiie ettt e e sbee e s s beeesaee 587 685

LONG-LEIM rECRIVADIES ...eeiiiiiiieeiie et et s saaesree s 397 77

984 762

16. Lease agreements
The Group is a lessee in the lease agreements of real estate and land. IFRS 16 is a new standard about lease
agreements and was implemented in the year 2019. Further information about the effect of implementation is in
note no. 44.

2019
Lease asset  Lease debt
At its effective date 1.1.2019 ....coociiiiiiiieiieee et s 6,497 (6,497)
INAEXATION 1ttt ettt e ate e e st e e e st a e e s sabae e satee e s aaeeenans 145 (145)
Foreign exchange rate Changes ....oocueeviiiiiieieiic e (13) 277
Amortisation of lease debt / deprecation of lease asset ......c.ccoceeveeeeririieneiienienieiene (336) 297
Balance @t 31.12.2009 ...coiiiiiiieiee ettt ettt ettt be e e e sane e 6,293 ( 6,068)
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16. Lease agreements contd.:
In the year 2019 the Group expensed USD 274 thousand of interest expenses due to the lease liability. The Group
makes use of exemptions in IFRS 16 due to lease of assets with low value.

Lease liability - maturity analysis - not discounted

2019
Payments WIthin @ YEAI ..cceuiii ettt st e e s ee e e st e e s sta e e sbaeeesbaeessabaeesabeeenn 583
Payments after a year and WIithin 5 YEars ......cocii ittt s 1,560
Payments after 5 years or later .......cccoceeeeieiiiiieee e, 11,318
Total of lease liability - not discounted 13,461
17. Landsvirkjun's subsidiaries
Landsvirkjun's subsidiaries are the following:
Share
Icelandic Power Insurance Ltd., BErmuda ......coooeieeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeveereverereeeeeeeeeeeeeeees 100.0% 100.0%
Landsnet hf., Reykjavik, Iceland 64.7% 64.7%
Landsvirkjun Power ehf., Reykjavik, Iceland ...........ccccooeiiiiiiiiiccee e, 100.0% 100.0%
Orkufjarskipti hf., Reykjavik, Iceland 100.0% 100.0%
18. Inventories
Inventories are specified as follows:
Spare parts and CONSUMADBIES .........oeieiiiiieiee e s e 5,248 5,530
5,248 5,530
19. Accounts receivables and other receivables 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Accounts receivables and other receivables are specified as follows:
ACCOUNTS FECEIVADIES .oneevee ettt e e e et e e e ate e e s naeeesasaeean 64,856 64,934
Other short term reCeIVAbIES .......uii i 9,859 4,009
74,715 68,943

In assessing impairment of accounts receivables, historical information is used as guidance as well as current
economic prospects. At year-end 2019, 90% of accounts receivables were under 30 days old (2018: 94%).

20. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are specified as follows:

L2 T 0] Qe [=T oY 1Y S 81,199 64,910
Y Y S YT ol UL 14T RPN 29,288 51,368
110,487 116,278

21. Equity

The Parent Company is a partnership owned by the Icelandic State and Eignarhlutir ehf. The Icelandic State owns
99.9% in the Company and Eignarhlutir ehf. 0.1%. Eignarhlutir ehf. is owned by the State. Landsvirkjun is an
independent taxable entity. The Group’s equity ratio at year end 2019 was 51.0% compared to 48.6% at year end
2018.

22. Revaluation account, translation difference and restricted reserves
The revaluation account consists of a revaluation of the transmission network and telecommunication equipment
after income tax effects. The translation difference is the foreign exchange difference arising due to
Landsvirkjun’s subsidiaries and associated companies with other functional currencies than the Parent
Company's. Restricted reserves contain the share in profit of equity accounted investees, from 1 January 2016,
(subsidiaries and associated companies) recognised in the income statement which exceeds dividends from these
companies, or the dividend that has been decided to distribute.

Consolidated Financial Statements of Landsvirkjun 2019 26 Amounts are in USD thousand



Notes, contd.

23. Liabilities

Interest bearing long term debt is specified as follows:

2019 2018

Interest bearing long term debt 1.1, ...ccciiiiiiiiiiieee s 2,000,881 2,169,186

N =R o - o [PPSR 0 267,213

Amortisation of long-term debt .........cccceviiiiiiiiiiiiii ( 191,157) (  405,102)

Foreign exchange difference .........ccccocoiiiiiiiiiiiii ( 17,062) ( 44,559)

Changes in CPl indexation and amortisation of discount ........c..ccceveeriieenieniennieenienns 9,287 14,143

Interest bearing long term debt 31.12. ....oociiiiiiiiiiie e 1,801,949 2,000,881
Interest bearing long-term debt is specified as follows by currencies:

2019 2018

Average Remaining Average Remaining

Due date interest balance interest balance

Liabilities in ISK ..c..cocvreereeninierecneene 2020-2034 3.7% 268,797 3.7% 273,367

Liabilities in CHF .....cocoeiineiiiiiireee 2020-2022 0.0% 15,141 0.0% 20,849

Liabilities in EUR .c..cccvreevieieecneeenee, 2024-2026 0.0% 257,879 0.0% 309,111

Liabilities in USD .....coceeveireeneeienieniene 2020-2035 3.8% 1,260,132 3.8% 1,397,554

1,801,949 2,000,881

Current maturities of long-term debt .......cccovvviiiiiiiin e (258,661) (192,302)

Total long-term debt .......ceeviiiiiiee e 1,543,288 1,808,579

Interest rates on debt at year end was in the range of 0.0-5.0%. Nominal interest rates for the period were on
average 3.6% (2018: 3.7%), taking into account the state guarantee fee for long-term loans which is calculated
according to Act No. 121/1997 on state guarantees.

24. Maturities of long-term debt
According to loan agreements, maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

2019 2018
2009 oo e - 192,302
2020 it e s e e s e r e e s s e e s ra e e s eane s 258,661 260,771
07 P 214,511 215,459
2022 e e s s s a e s e e s r e e a e s 163,481 163,293
2023 o e s 165,652 165,740
2024 ... e st e s s s a e s eane s 143,529 -
5= =T PN 856,115 1,003,316

1,801,949 2,000,881

25. Pension fund obligations

The Company’s obligation to refund the indexation charges on retirement payments to current and former
employees, which hold pension rights with state and communal pension funds amounted to USD 36.9 million at
year end 2019 according to an actuary’s evaluation, which is based on estimated future changes in salaries and
prices. Interest rates in excess of price increase are assessed at 3.5% and salary increase in excess of price
increase is assessed at 1.5% per year on average. Premises on life expectancy and mortality are in accordance
with the provisions of Regulation No. 391/1998 on obligatory pension benefits and operation of pension funds.
The calculated retirement age is 68 years for current employees and 65 years for non-employees with vested
benefits. This is consistent with criterion used by the Pension Fund for State Employees.

Consolidated Financial Statements of Landsvirkjun 2019 27 Amounts are in USD thousand



Notes, contd.

25. Pension fund obligations contd.:

Change in the obligation is specified as follows: 2019 2018
BalanCe @t 1.1, oo e e e e e e e s e e n e a e e e e eeaaaaaaaaaeaan 38,015 40,597
EXpensed dUring the YEAr ..ottt s 776 925
Payments dUriNg the YT ....cuiiiii et st be e e saae s ( 2,597) ( 2,896)
Y Yot (U= Y F= Y ol o= = <SS 2,155 3,674
Effect of foreign exchange rate Changes .......cccvevieereeiciee e ( 1,486) ( 4,285)
BalanCe @t 31,12, coooiiiiieiie et e e e e e e e arr e e e e e eeaaraaaaeeenn 36,863 38,015
Pension fund obligation, 5 year statement: 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Present value of the obligation ............. 36,863 38,015 40,597 35,383 27,663
26. Obligation due to demolition
Change in the obligation due to demolition is specified as follows: 2019 2018
BAlanCe @t 1.1, ..eeiiiiiei ittt st e st e e e st a e e s abaeesareeean 9,011 8,551
Reversal of discount in the YEar ..ot e 3,201 460
BalanCe @t 3L.12. ittt e st e e et e e sata e e sbaee s 12,212 9,011

In accordance with IFRS, the initial value of fixed operating assets shall include estimated cost of their demolition
after their use. Estimated demolition cost of power lines has been assessed and discounted on the basis of the
useful life. In return, an obligation has been written up among long-term liabilities. A change in the obligation is
recognised in the income statement amounting to the discounted value.

27. Accounts payable and other payables
Accounts payable and other payables are specified as follows: 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE ittt sttt sttt sbee s 26,695 25,479
ACCIUBH INEEIESES 1iiiiieieiiee ettt et e st e e s ate e e sbe e e s sabeeessneaeesabeeeens 19,688 20,797
Other short term liabilities ......ccvveeiii i 31,337 26,826
77,720 73,102

28.

Related parties

Definition of related parties

Owners, associated companies, members of Boards of Directors, key management and companies and
institutions owned by them are among the Company’s related parties.

Transactions with related parties 2019 2018
Other income

ASSOCIALET COMPANIES .oiiiiiiieiiii ettt ettt e st e e st e e s s bae e ssasaeessbeeesaaeessanes 2 17
Interest income

ASSOCIALET COMPANIES .oiiiiiiieiiiieeiiee ettt etee e st e s s bae e s sabee e sabeeessaeessanes 3 2
Expenses

ASSOCIALET COMPANIES .oiiiiiiiiiiii ettt ettt st e e st e s s bae e ssabaeesabeeesseeessanes 0 0
Receivables

ASSOCIALET COMPANIES .oiiiiiiieiiiieeiiee ettt ettt et s st e e sbee e e s bee e s sabaeesbbeeesssaeessanes 0 10

Transactions with related parties are on the same basis as transactions with non-related parties. Transactions
with the State or companies or institutions owned by the State are not specified as a separate item but such
transactions are comparable to transactions with non related parties. The Group applies an exemption from
disclosure requirements of IAS 24 as the Parent Company is owned by the State. See further information in note
21.
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29.

30.

31.

32.

Fees to auditors
Fees to auditors of the Group in the year 2019 amounted to USD 475 thousand (2018: USD 376 thousand),
whereof USD 237 thousand (2018: USD 239 thousand) was for the audit of financial statements.

Risk management

Effective risk management is a key aspect of informed decision making and is integrated into processes of all of
the Company‘s divisions. Landsvirkjun‘s risk management policies support continuous and dependable
operations, as well as the Company’s goals for social responsibility.

Landsvirkjun’s risk management goals:
e Support development and adoption of policies
¢ Support effective, stable and responsible operations
e Support focused execution of projects and assignments
e Ensure risks are in line with approved risk management policies

Landsvirkjun‘s Board of Directors approves risk management policies.

- The Board's Risk Committee, nominated by the Board, verifies the effectiveness of risk management within the
Company and supports the Board in monitoring key risks and risk management procedures.

- The Company’s Risk Management Committee reassesses and approves risk management procedures within the
Company. The committee is a consultation forum for risk management and also ensures that the Company’s Risk
Policy is adhered to. The CEO, Deputy CEO and the Executive Vice President of the Finance Division are members
of the committee. The CEO serves as its Chairman.

- Executive Directors are responsible for identifying and assessing risks within their divisions, as well as
implementing appropriate risk mitigation controls.

- The Director of Risk Management coordinates risk management and is responsible for its realistic
implementation.

Financial risk

Landsvirkjun is exposed to financial risk through business transactions and other operations of the Company. The
treasury function is responsible for analysing, managing and reporting the Company’‘s financial risk. The
Company’s financial risk is divided into market risk, liquidity risk and counterparty risk. Market risk mainly consist
of the following:

e  Price in power contracts being linked to aluminium price and Nord Pool
e Interest rate risk due to the companies liabilities
e Foreign exchange risk due to liabilities and cash flows

Landsvirkjun utilizes derivative agreements to hedge market risk in accordance with approved market risk limits.

Aluminium- and Nord Pool risk

The Company is exposed to market risk due to fluctuations in aluminum price and Nord Pool electricity prices.
About 33% of Landsvirkjun’s electricity sales (GWh) is linked to aluminium price and around 10% is linked to Nord
Pool. Thus the Company enters into derivative agreements to secure its income base and reduce fluctuations.
Such agreements consist in most cases of fixing prices at a certain level. Therefore, the Company will recognise
less revenue if prices go up, but secure its revenue if prices go down. Landsvirkjun has hedged around 50% of its
aluminium price risk in 2020, and around 25% for 2021. No derivative agreements have been entered into to
hedge Nord Pool electricity price risk. At 2019 year-end the fair value of derivatives for hedging aluminium price
risk was positive by 2.4 million USD (2018: positive by 8.4 million USD).
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32. Aluminium- and Nord Pool risk contd.:
Embedded derivatives
Landsvirkjun's contracts for sale and purchase of electricity which are linked to aluminium price form embedded
derivatives which are recognised in the Company's financial statements. Embedded derivatives in power contracts
are recognised in the balance sheet at fair value on the reporting date. Fair value changes are recognised in the
income statement among financial income and expenses.

2019 2018
Fair value of embedded derivatives is specified as follows:
Fair value of embedded derivatives at the beginning of the year .......c..ccccvvieeiieninis 4,034 53,444
Fair value changes during the YEar ........coii i ( 1,323) ( 49,410)
Fair value of embedded derivatives at year end ............cceeeeeeeiiieeiiiecceeee e, 2,711 4,034
Division of embedded derivatives is specified as follows:
Long term component of embedded derivatives ........c.cccvveeriiinienieenieceee e, 5,366 5,228
Short term component of embedded derivatives ... ( 2,655) ( 1,194)
Total embedded deriVatIVES ........cccvviiiiiieiiieeie et eesetrre e e e e eanrees 2,711 4,034

The main assumptions Landsvirkjun uses in the valuation of embedded derivatives are as follows:

Calculations are based on the forward price of aluminium, as disclosed in the LME and are based on the maximum
time length of forward aluminium prices, or 123 months. Management’s opinion is that aluminium price
expectations after ten years will reflect the aluminium price at the time the agreements were made and therefore
fair value changes will not arise for that period.

The calculations are limited to the revision time of power contracts or length of contracts. However the time
length can never be more than the aforementioned 123 months.

According to provisions on energy buyers’ purchase obligation the calculation is based on a secured minimum
purchase.

Expected cash flow of contracts is discounted using USD rates according to Bloomberg, no spread added. At year
end 2019, rates for discounting were in the range of 1.8 - 1.9% (2018: 2.6 - 2.8%).

Sensitivity analysis of aluminium price risk
The following tables show effects of changes in aluminium prices on fair value of financial instruments linked to
aluminium prices in the income statement. Amounts are in thousands of USD, pre tax.

31.12.2019 Aluminum price USD/MT
-100 +100
EmMbedded deriVatiVES ........ceeeiiiiiiiiie ettt ( 8,490) 8,496
Aluminium hedges 3,196 (  3,020)
( 5,294) 5,476
31.12.2018 Aluminum price USD/MT
-100 +100
EMbedded deriVatiVES ........c.eeeiiiiiiiie ettt ( 8,832) 8,742
ATUMINIUM NEAZES ..ottt et e a e et e e sbeesaaeesbaesaeesareas 5066 ( 4,860)
( 3,766) 3,882
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33. Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss due to unfavourable changes in foreign exchange rates. Landsvirkjun’s
functional currency is the USD and therefore a foreign exchange risk arises from cash flows, assets and liabilities
in currencies other than the USD. The Company’s revenues are mainly in USD and ISK, but expenses in ISK provide
a natural hedge. Currency risk due to amortisation and interest payments has been limited with the use of cross
currency swaps.

The Company’s reporting risk related to changes in exchange rate arises mainly due to its debt in EUR which is
mainly long-term. The following table shows Landsvirkjun’s position in currencies other than the functional
currency.

Landsvirkjun’s foreign exchange risk relating to monetary assets and liabilities at year end is specified as follows:

Other
31.12.2019 EUR ISK CHF currencies
Long term receivables..........cccveeeeeciiieeiieecceeeee e, 0 3,415 0 85
Accounts receivables and other receivables................... 2,409 15,648 0 21
Cash and cash equivalents.........ccccceeeeeieciiieeeccecciiieee e, 3,104 25,922 0 2,542
Interest bearing liabilities..........cccocevvrvineniniiieeen, ( 257,879) ( 268,797) ( 15,141) 0
DEriVaAtiVES. ...t 56,082 234,907 0 0
Accounts payable and other payables .......ccccccevverieene ( 2,373) ( 72,823) ( 9) ( 418)
Risk in balance sheet........ccoieviiiiniiiiieeeeeeee ( 198,657) ( 61,728) ( 15,150) 2,230
31.12.2018
Long term receivables........cccevcveeeeciie e 0 1,895 0 0
Accounts receivables and other receivables................... 1,378 22,615 0 1,930
Cash and cash equivalents........ccoceeveeriennieeniienieniees 2,051 25,241 79 3,136
Interest bearing liabilities..........cccoceeneriinieniiiciee, ( 309,111) ( 273,367) ( 20,849) 0
DeriVatiVes........eeeeiiiiee e 103,075 238,178 0 0
Accounts payable and other payables ............ccc.c......... ( 1,032) ( 68,977) 0 ( 399)
Risk in balance sheet.........cccooveviieniiiineneceeee ( 203,639) ( 54,415) ( 20,770) 4,667
Exchange rates of the main currencies against the USD for the years 2019 and 2018 are specified as follows:
Average rate Rate at year end

2019 2018 2019 2018
EUR ettt sttt sttt e 0.89 0.85 0.89 0.87
CHF ettt s te e e aeeeaaee s 0.99 0.98 0.97 0.98
NOK .ottt ettt st sba e s 8.81 8.14 8.79 8.68
] SR 122.65 108.38 121.10 116.33
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33. Foreign exchange risk contd.:
Sensitivity analysis
The change of the functional currencies of the companies in the Group by 10% against the following currencies,
would have changed the Group’s results and equity by the following amounts before tax. The analysis includes
monetary assets and liabilities and assumes that all other variables, especially interest rates, remain unchanged.

Profit (loss) / Equity

Strengthening Weakening
19,866 ( 19,866)
6,173 ( 6,173)

1,515 ( 1,515)

( 223) 223

Strengthening Weakening
20,364 ( 20,364)

5,442 ( 5,442)
2,077 ( 2,077)
( 499) 499

The fair value of cross currency swaps was negative by USD 10.6 million at the end of December 2019 (2018:
negative by USD 3.7 million).

34. Interest rate risk
Landvirkjun is exposed to interest rate risk through its fixed and floating interest bearing assets and liabilities. The
Company’s risk mainly relates to possible increase in interest on floating interest bearing borrowings, which
would lead to an increase in interest expense. In recent years, Landsvirkjun has managed interest rate risk by
increasing the ratio of fixed interest bearing borrowings, as well as using cross currency swaps that include
interest rate swaps.

At year end 2019, the proportion of loans with fixed interest rates including swap agreements was 73% (2018:
73%). At year end 2019, the estimated market value of the Company’s long-term liabilities was USD 168 million
higher than their book value (2018: USD 145 million higher) discounted by the underlying currencies yield curve
without spread. The following table shows the division of financial assets and liabilities between floating and fixed

interest.

Financial instruments with fixed interest 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Interest bearing liabilities ......cccviicieeie e ( 1,030,392) ( 1,130,884)
Cross currency and iNtErest rate SWaPS ....c.eevveereeriieerieeste et steesire e s e e naee s ( 292,448) (  337,367)
LONG tEIM rECEIVADIES coneviie ettt s e e s e s ta e s 397 77

( 1,322,443) ( 1,468,174)

Financial instruments with floating interest

Cash and cash eqUIVAIENTS .......cccuiiiiiiii e e e e sareeean 110,487 116,278
Interest bearing liabilities .....ccceiicieei e ( 771,557) ( 869,997)
Cross currency and iNTErest rate SWaPS ...ccccueeeicveeeeeieeeeieeeesrreeesrreeesseeesssreesenssesesnnees 284,764 334,941

( 376,306) ( 418,778)
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34. Interest rate risk, contd.,

35.

Sensitivity analysis of interest risk
The following tables show the effect of changes in interest rates on book value and cash flows for one year. The
amounts are in USD thousand before tax.

31.12.2019 Cash flow Book value
-100 bps +100 bps -100 bps +100 bps
Embedded derivatives .......cccoeveerieeneeniieenieeeceeeeiee e 0 0 470 ( 436)
Other derivatives ........ccvcceeeceeiieesee e ( 2,287) 2,709 ( 227) 1,805
Interest bearing liabilities .....ccoccvvviveveeniiirieeeceeee 5,005 ( 6,963) 0 0
Cash and cash equivalents .........cccceccveeeieeeiciiieee e e, ( 1,105) 1,105 0 0
1,613 ( 3,149) 243 1,369
31.12.2018 Cash flow Book value
-100 bps +100 bps -100 bps +100 bps
Embedded derivatives .......cceeveerieeneeniieenieeiceeeeieee 0 0 475 ( 439)
Other derivatives .......cccveveeeceeiieesieesiee e ( 2,319) 3,176 ( 657) 2,392
Interest bearing liabilities .....ccoccevviveveiniiinieeeceeee 5435 ( 8,044) 0 0
Cash and cash equivalents .........cccccccveeeieencciiiiee e ( 1,163) 1,163 0 0
1,953 ( 3,705) ( 182) 1,953
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk consists of risk of losses should the Company not be able to meet its obligations at maturity date.
Landsvirkjun limits liquidity risk with effective liquidity management by ensuring that there is sufficient cash at all
times to be able to meet obligations. In order to keep balance between liabilities and expected revenues an
emphasis is placed on a secure liquidity position in the form of cash and access to revolving credit facilities.

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to USD 110 million at year end 2019 (2018: USD 116 million)
but taking into account undrawn credit facilities (USD 180 million) Landsvirkjun has access to a total of USD 290
million (2018: USD 469 million). Cash flow from operations, a well distributed maturity profile in addition to
strong liquidity and access to credit facilities secure the Company’s liquidity at least throughout the year 2021.

Consolidated Financial Statements of Landsvirkjun 2019 33 Amounts are in USD thousand



Notes, contd.

35. Liquidity risk, contd.,

Contractual payments due to financial instruments, including interests, are specified as follows:

Contractual Within More than
31.12.2019 Book value cash flow oneyear 1-2years 2 - 5years 5 years
Non-derivative financial instruments
Long term receivables ....... 397 411 0 411 0 0
Cash and cash equiv. ......... 110,487 110,487 110,487 0 0 0
Short term receivables ...... 74,715 74,715 74,715 0 0 0
Interest bearing liabilities .. ( 1,801,949) ( 2,059,766) 279,735) ( 263,286) 577,763) (  938,982)
Current liabilities ............... ( 106,557) ( 106,557) 106,557) 0 0 0
( 1,722,907) ( 1,980,710) 201,090) ( 262,875) 577,763) (  938,982)
Derivative financial instruments
Cross currency swaps ........ ( 10,594) ( 15,980) 9,497) ( 1,723) 4,760) 0
Aluminium derivatives ...... 2,366 1,984 1,984 0 0 0
Embedded derivatives
in power contracts ............ 2,711 3,584 2,682) ( 1,770) 540 7,496
( 5,517) ( 10,412) 10,195) ( 3,493) 4,220) 7,496
31.12.2018
Non-derivative financial instruments
Long term receivables ....... 86 0 0 86 0
Cash and cash equiv. ......... 116,278 116,278 116,278 0 0 0
Short term receivables ...... 68,943 68,943 68,943 0 0 0
Interest bearing liabilities.. ( 2,000,881) ( 2,358,526) ( 234,138) ( 322,096) 676,137) ( 1,126,155)
Current liabilities ............... ( 91,688) ( 91,688) ( 91,688) 0 0 0
( 1,907,271) ( 2,264,907) ( 140,605) ( 322,096) 676,051) ( 1,126,155)
Derivative financial instruments
Cross currency swaps ........ ( 3,675) ( 13,310) ( 2,730) ( 6,201) 4,321) ( 58)
Aluminium derivatives ...... 8,391 7,695 7,096 599 0 0
Embedded derivatives
in power contracts ............ 4,034 5,373 ( 1,214) ( 1,362) 562 7,387
8,750 ( 242) 3,152 ( 6,964) 3,759) 7,329
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36. Financing
Landsvirkjun places emphasis on securing access to capital and having diverse sources of funding. Thus, the
Company has been able to access capital through the issuance of bonds in the domestic and foreign capital
markets, by borrowing from the European Investment Bank (EIB) and the Nordic Investment Bank (NIB) and
through project financing in Europe and Japan. In addition, the Company has access to credit facilities from its
relationship banks.

In 2019, Landsvirkjun cancelled an ISK revolving credit facility, which reflects a reduced need for liquidity. A
foreign revolving credit facility was renewed and its amount reduced from USD 200 million to USD 150 million.
The amount of Landsnet’s revolving credit facility was reduced from USD 50 million to USD 30 million. There were
no new borrowings in the year 2019 (2018: USD 267 million). Repayments of borrowings amounted to USD 191
million (2018: USD 405 million).

Landsvirkjun’s interest-bearing debt amounted to USD 1.802 million at year-end 2019 (2018: USD 2.001 million).
The risk associated with refinancing is reduced by the equal distribution of amortisations and by the suitable
lifetime of outstanding debt. The weighted average lifetime of interest-bearing debt is 4.6 years (2018: 5.1 years)
and the ratio of interest-bearing debt with maturity within a 12-month period is 14.4% (2018: 9.6%).

In recent years, Landsvirkjun has placed an emphasis on changing its debt portfolio and no longer takes on debt
with a state guarantee. In addition, the Company has systematically worked towards removing state guarantees
of outstanding debt where possible. The principal of state guarantee debt is decreasing and the last debt
enjoying a state guarantee is due in 2026. At year-end 2019, 39% of Landsvirkjun's debt was state guaranteed
(2018:40%). Landsvirkjun pays a guarantee fee to the Icelandic state for the Company’s debt which has a state
guarantee.

37. Green Bonds
In connection with the United Nations” Sustainable Development Goals, Landsvirkjun issued a USPP in Green
Bond format of USD 200 million in March 2018. This was the company’s first Green Bond and Landsvirkjun was
the first Icelandic company to issue a Green Bond. The bond was issued under Landsvirkjun’s Green Bond
Framework and the proceeds of the transaction have been fully allocated to the build up of Theistareykir Power
Station and the expansion of Burfell Power Station. Both projects are in compliance with the Green Bond
Framework’s eligibility criteria and restrictions on CO2 emission.

Annual reporting under the Green Bond Framework and further information can be found on Landsvirkjun’s
website.

38. Counterparty risk

Counterparty risk is the risk that a counterparty to an agreement does not comply with provisions of the
agreement. Landsvirkjun’s counterparty risk arises first and foremost due to the Company’s power contracts,
derivative contracts and cash and cash equivalents. Though the amounts involved can be considerable, the risk is
limited by the Company’s requirements for take or pay clauses in power contracts and also through requirements
for counterparty guarantees. Landsvirkjun requires that counterparties have an investment grade credit rating
when it comes to keeping cash and cash equivalents and entering into derivative contracts. In note no. 51 the
assessment of assets is explained in more detail.
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38. Counterparty risk contd.:

The Company’s counterparty risk is specified as follows at year end:
31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Derivative financial iINSTFUMENTS ....vvvviiiiiiiiiiieieeeeeeeeeeeeee s 14,465 23,600
LONE tErM rECRIVADIES «..veiiieiiieiiie ettt sttt et et esaaeebee s 397 77
Accounts receivables and other receivables .........cccoooovvcvieiiiiicciiiieee e 74,715 68,943
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENTS .......cccuiiiiiiii e e e e sneee s 110,487 116,278

200,064 208,898

39. Comparison of fair value and book value of long-term debt

31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Book Book
value Fair value value Fair value
Interest bearing long term liabilities ........ccccovvviviennennns 1,801,949 1,970,328 2,000,881 2,146,307

The fair value of other financial assets and liabilities is measured as book value.

Fair value of interest bearing liabilities is calculated by discounting expected cash flows with the underlying
currencies' yield curve.

Interest rates are specified as follows: 2019 2018
Interest bearing liabilities iN ISK ......cocueiriiiiiiiee e 0.8to1.2% 1.1to1l.4%
Interest bearing liabilities other than in ISK .........cccciiiiiiiiiii e -0.7t02.0% -0.8t02.8%

40. Fair value classification
The table shows the level categorisation for items in the financial statements recognised at fair value.

Level 2 Level 3 Total

31.12.2019
Embedded derivatiVEs .........ccouiiiirieiiiiieeeeec e 2,711 2,711
Other derivatiVes ........coceeveeririiieeeee e ( 692) ( 7,536) ( 8,228)
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment .........ccceciviiriierinieennn. 230,000 230,000
Shares in other COMPANIEs ....cccuvivierriiiieee s 587 587
( 692) 225,762 225,070

31.12.2018
Embedded derivatives .........ccoooeeciiiiiiiecceeee e 4,034 4,034
Other deriVatiVES .....cccuvvveeee ettt eeebrre e e e eenes 8,982 ( 4,266) 4,716
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment .........ccceeiviiicieninieennn. 241,338 241,338
Shares in 0ther COMPANIEs .....ccuvivieiriiiiieeee e 685 685
8,982 241,791 250,773

Main assumptions for valuation of derivatives can be seen in notes 13 and 32.
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41. Classification of financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are divided into defined groups. The classification affects how evaluation of the
relevant financial instrument is measured. Those groups to which the Company’s financial assets and liabilities
pertain and their basis for evaluation are specified as follows:
e Assets and liabilities held for trading - are recognised at fair value through profit and loss.
e Equity instruments - are recognised at fair value through profit and loss.
e Loans and receivables - are recognised at amortised cost.
e Other financial liabilities - are recognised at amortised cost.

Financial assets and liabilities are divided into the following groups of financial instruments:

Assets and

liabilities Other

held for Equity Loans and financial
31.12.2019 trading instruments receivables liabilities Total
Derivative financial instruments ............. 14,465 14,465
Shares in other companies .................... 587 587
Long term receivables 397 397
Accounts receivables and
other receivables ........ccccceeeeiiiiieenennn. 74,715 74,715
Cash and cash equivalents .................... 110,487 110,487
Total assets ....ccoevcieeieeiecceeee e, 14,465 587 185,599 0 200,651
Interest bearing liabilities ...........cc.......... 1,801,949 1,801,949
Derivative financial instruments ............. 19,982 19,982
Accounts payable and
other payables 106,557 106,557
Total liabilities 19,982 0 0 1,908,506 1,928,488
31.12.2018
Derivative financial instruments ............. 23,600 23,600
Shares in other companies ..................... 685 685
Long term receivables .........cccccvveeunnnn. 77 77
Accounts receivables and
other receivables ......ccccccccvvviiiiiiiiininnnnn. 68,943 68,943
Cash and cash equivalents ..................... 116,278 116,278
Total assets ....cooevvveeeeeeeiciieeiee e 23,600 685 185,298 0 209,583
Interest bearing liabilities ..............c........ 2,000,881 2,000,881
Derivative financial instruments ............. 14,850 14,850
Accounts payable and
other payables .......ccoccevieeeeiieiiiiieeeeees 91,688 91,688
Total liabilities 14,850 0 0 2,092,569 2,107,419

42. Capital management
Landsvirkjun places emphasis on maintaining a strong equity base supporting further development of the
Company.

43. Subsequent events
Nothing has come forth after the balance sheet date, which would require adjustments or changes to the
financial statements for the year 2019.
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44, Significant accounting policies

45,

The Group has adopted International Financial Reporting Standards, amendments thereto and interpretations
adopted by the European Union at year-end 2019. It is the management's opinion that the implementation of
new and amended standards and interpretations do not have significant effects on the consolidated financial
statements. The Group has not adopted new or amended standards which have been issued but not entered into
effect. It is management's estimate, that the application of other new standards and interpretations or
amendments that have been endorsed but are not yet effective do not have a material effect on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group, for the first time, has applied IFRS 16 Leases. IFRS 16 introduces new requirements
with respect to lease accounting. It removes the distinction between operating and finance lease and requires the
recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at commencement for all leases, except for short-term
leases and leases of low value assets.

The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, with no restatement of comparative
information and the cumulative effect of the implementation recognised in equity at 1 January 2019. The Group
has elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the definition of a lease on transition, and thereby
applying IFRS 16 to all contracts entered into before 1 January 2019 and identified as leases in accordance with
IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.

With the application of IFRS 16, the nature of expenses related to operating leases will now change because the
Group will recognise a depreciation charge for right-of-use assets and interest expense on lease liabilities.
Previously, the Group recognised operating lease expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The
effects on the financial statements are immaterial.

At initial application on 1 January 2019 the Group recognised lease liabilities of USD 6,5 million and a right-of-use
asset in the same amount in its Balance Sheet.

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. A company controls an entity when it has the power to
govern the investment, is exposed to, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement in the investment and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investment. In assessing control, potential voting
rights that currently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included
in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.
Financial performance of subsidiaries have been taken into account. When the Company’s share of losses exceeds
its interest in a subsidiary, the carrying amount of that interest is reduced to nil and the recognition of further
losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Company has an obligation or has made payments on behalf
of the subsidiary. In case of a profit on the operation of a subsidiary in subsequent periods, a share in their profit
is not recognised until the share in a loss has been fully offset.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from
transactions with equity accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the
Company’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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45.

46.

47.

Basis of consolidation contd.:

Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries with another functional currency than the Parent Company's are translated to
USD at the exchange rate ruling at the accounting date. Income and expenses of that operation are translated to
USD at the average exchange rate of the year. The exchange rate difference arising from the translation to USD is
entered as a specific item in the statement of comprehensive income and under equity. Amounts in the
statement of cash flow are translated to USD at the average exchange rate of the year. The exchange rate
difference arising from the translation to USD is entered as a specific item in the statement of cash flow.

Associated companies

Associated companies are those companies in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over
financial and operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Company holds between 20
and 50% of the voting power of another entity, including any other possible voting power.

The consolidated financial statements include share in the profit or loss of associated companies accounted for
using the equity method, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant
influence ceases. When the Group’s share of losses exceeds the book value of an associated company the book
value is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the associated company. If in subsequent periods there is a
profit on the operation of associated companies, the share in the profit is not recognised until the previous share
in losses has been offset.

Operating revenues

Revenues from power sales and transmission of electricity consists of sales to power intensive industries and to
sales companies on the wholesale market based on measured delivery of electricity during the year. Other service
income is recognised when earned or upon delivery.

Revenues are recognised based on the nature of products sold and services delivered as follows:

Electricity generation
Electricity generation revenues are generated by the sale of electricity that is generated by hydroelectric power,
wind power and geothermal heat.

Electricity generation revenues are generated by the delivery of electricity at an agreed price. The service
obligation is to deliver electricity over time and the contractual price is the fee that Landsvirkjun expects to
receive, on either the daily price or the contractual price. The service obligation is met over time and reflects
consideration based on contracual price for each delivered unit which is the amount that is recognised as
revenues. The right to make an invoice for the sale of electricity arises when electricity is generated and delivered
and the right to make an invoice has been created for a fee which will, in most circumstances, be the same as the
value for the customer.

Furthermore, the operation of Icelandic Power Insurance Ltd. is included in this segment. The purpose of Icelandic
Power Insurance Ltd. is to manage insurances for Landsvirkjun’s power stations.
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47.

48.

49.

50.

Operating revenues contd.:

Electricity transmission

Landsnet carries out the transmission of electricity and system operation in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter Il of the Electricity Act no. 65/2003. Revenues for the transmission of electricity are based on the
measurement of delivered units according to a valid tariff at each time. That tariff is dependent on a revenue cap
defined in art. 12 of the Electricity Act and is subject to surveillance by the National Energy Authority. Revenues
from transmission losses and system operation are also recognised based on the measurement of delivered units
according to the valid tariff. That tariff is based on purchase price according to auctions and is not dependent on
the revenue cap but subject to surveillance by the Natonal Energy Authority. The right to recognise revenue and
issue an invoice for the transmission of electricity is established when the electricity is transmitted and delivered.

Other

Other segments include the operations of Orkufjarskipti hf. and Landsvirkjun Power ehf. The purpose of
Orkufjarskipti hf. is to own and operate a telecommunication infrastructure which is necessary for shareholders’
electricity operations throughout the country and to rent access thereto in accordance with availability and law.
Landsvirkjun Power ehf. takes care of sales of technical and operational advisory services to third parties and
general research work, harnessing researches and projects for Landsvirkjun and related companies. Revenues are
recognised for other income when a performance obligation according to an agreement has been fulfilled.

Interest income and expenses

Interest income and expenses are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method.
Interest income and expenses include bank rates, premium, realised interest rate swaps and other differences
arising on initial book value of financial instruments and amounts on the date of maturity using the effective
interest method.

Effective interest is the imputed rate of interest used in determining the current value of estimated cash flow over
the estimated useful life of a financial instrument or a shorter period if applicable, so that it equals the book value
of the financial asset or liability in the balance sheet. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Company
estimates cash flow taking into account all contractual aspects of the financial instrument.

Other financial income and expenses
Other financial income and expenses include profit or loss on assets and liabilities held for trading and all realized
and unrealized fair value changes and changes in foreign exchange rates.

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are recognised at the exchange rate ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised at the exchange rate ruling at
the end of the year. The foreign currency gain or loss thereon relating to USD is recognised in the income
statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at cost value in a foreign currency are translated to USD
at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transactions. Tangible assets and liabilities recognised in foreign
currencies at fair value are translated to USD at the exchange rate ruling at the date of determination of fair
value.
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51. Impairment

a) Financial assets

The impairment model in IFRS 9 is based on the premise of providing for expected losses. IFRS 9 requires that the
same impairment model apply to all of the following: (i) financial assets measured at amortised cost, (ii) financial
assets mandatorily measured at fair value through other comprehensive income; (iii) lease receivables within the
scope of IAS 17 Leases, (iv) contract assets within the scope of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
and (v) certain loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. This model is a change from the impairment
model under the previous standard, IAS 39, which required impairment to be recognised based on incurred
losses.

Expected impairment loss for financial assets is estimated based on what stage of the impairment model the
relevant financial assets is classified:

Stage 1: expected credit loss is estimated based on 12 months expectation of default,
Stage 2: expected credit loss is estimated based on lifetime default,
Stage 3: objective evidence of impairment is in place about the expected credit loss of the financial asset.

At initial recognition, financial assets are classified in stage 1, with the exception of purchased or originated credit
impaired financial assets. Financial assets are classified in stage 2 when there is a significant increase in credit risk
from initial recognition. An estimate of significant increase in credit risk is performed at each financial reporting
date. The Group has elected to classify trade receivables that do not include significant finance component, in
stage 2 at initial recognition in accordance with the simplified approach in the standard.

At each financial reporting date, management estimates if there is an objective evidence of impairment of
financial assets (stage 3). Financial assets are impaired if there is an objective evidence, as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, that indicated that the expected cash flow from the
assets will be lower than previously expected.

Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost is the difference between the book value of the assets and the
expected cash flow, discounted with original effective interest rate. Impairment for assets held for sale is
estimated based on the fair value of the financial assets at each balance sheet date.

Impairment is reversed if there is an objective evidence that an event has occurred after the impairment was
recognised that changes the previous estimate of impairment. Reversal of impairment loss for financial assets at
amortised cost and debt instruments classified as available for sale are recognised in profit or loss. Reversal of
impairment loss for equity instruments that are classified as assets available for sale, is recognised in other
comprehensive income.

The Group derecognises receivables when there are indicators of significant financial difficulties of debtors and
very likely that the receivables will not be paid.

Change in estimated impairment for financial assets is recognised in profit or loss in the period when the estimate
is performed.
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51. Impairment, contd.:
b) Other assets
The carrying amounts of the Company’s other assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Intangible assets with unspecified useful lives
are tested annually for impairment.

An impairment loss is expensed if the carrying amount of the asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. A cash generating unit is the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows that are
largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash generating units. Impairment loss is first
recognised in the income statement and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the fixed assets in the cash
generating unit.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its net fair value.
Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
assets.

For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation.

52. Income tax
Income tax on the results for the year consists of current income tax and deferred income tax. Income tax is
recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in
statement of comprehensive income, in which case income tax is recognised among those items.

Current income tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted at the
reporting date, in addition to adjustments made to current income tax of previous years.

A deferred income tax asset (liability) is recognised in the financial statements. Its calculation is based on the
difference in balance sheet items, according to the tax return, on the one hand, and the consolidated financial
statements, on the other hand. The difference thus arising is due to the fact that the tax assessment is based on
premises other than the Group’s financial statements and is in main respect a temporary difference as expenses
are entered in the financial statement in another period than in the tax return. Calculation of deferred tax is
based on the expected tax ratio when temporary differences are estimated to be reversed based on current law
at the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against the asset. The tax asset is calculated at each reporting date and decreased to the extent that is considered
likely that it will not be utilised against future taxable profit.
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53. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost.

The cost of renewing single items of fixed asset is capitalised if it is considered likely that the proceeds on the
asset will revert to the Company and the cost can be measured reliably. All other cost is expensed in the income
statement as it is incurred.

The Group’s transmission and telecommunication systems are recognised at a revalued cost in the balance sheet,
which is their fair value less depreciation from the date of revaluation. The revaluation of those assets is carried
out on a regular basis. All value increase due to the revaluation is recognised in the revaluation account among
equity after income tax effect. Depreciation of the revalued cost is recognised in the income statement. Upon the
sale, depreciation or disposal of an asset, the part of the revaluation account pertaining to the asset is transferred
to retained earnings.

Other operating assets are capitalised at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Initial value of fixed assets includes the estimated cost of demolition following their use. Estimated demolition
cost of power lines has been measured at a discounted value based on the useful life and an obligation in relation
thereto has been recognised among long-term liabilities. A change in the obligation due to the discounted value is
recognised through the income statement in addition to depreciation of demolition cost.

Cost value consists of all cost incurred due to the acquisition of the asset. Cost value of fixed assets constructed in
own account is the aggregate cost of construction, such as cost of material and salaries in addition to all other
costs the Company incurs in making the asset operative.

If single items of fixed assets have different estimated useful lives, they are divided in accordance with their
different useful lives.

Interest expenses on loans used to finance the cost value of projects are capitalised at the time of construction.

Profit or loss on the sale of fixed assets is the difference between the sales value and the book value of the asset
and is recognised in the income statement.
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53.

54.

Property, plant and equipment, contd.:

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated as a fixed annual percentage based on the estimated useful lives of the operating
assets.

Depreciation method, estimated useful life and residual value are revalued at each accounting date.

Depreciation ratios and useful life are specified as follows:

Depreciation Useful life
Power stations:

Power houses and other structures 1.67% 60 years

Machinery .....ccccoeeeveevcieeeecieeens 2.5-6.67% 15-40 years

Dams and waterways 1.67-3.33% 30-60 years
Thermal STAtIONS .....uvveiieiieiirieie e eertr e eeeebbae e e e e sesbtreeeeeesearbeeeeeeeenansees 1.67-6.67% 15-60 years
WINAMIILS ettt s e e aa e e et e e s abe e e sbtaeesabaeessnbeeesans 5.00% 20 years
SUBSTATIONS Luvviieiieiiiiieiee ettt eeerb e e e e e eabe e e e e e eeabaeeeeeeeebabeeeeeesesbsareeeeeannnres 2.5-5% 20-40 years
POWET JINES ...ttt e et e e e e ettt e e e e e e aba e e e e e s e e antaaeeeeeennnnsaaeaaeaan 1.67-5% 20-60 years
(@] o a or= 1IN 1« YRR 4-10% 10-25 years
Other telecommunication eqUIPMENT ....c..eiiiiiiiiiiie e e 6-20% 5-17 years
(0] 1 TolIN o TUT] o o= £ S 2.00% 50 years
Lease assets ... 2-50% 2-50 years
Equipment ...... 10-25%  4-10years
LV 2] 51 1ol 1= PUPPROE 10-20% 5-10 years

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are recognised at cost value, less accumulated impairment loss and amortisation.

Expenditure for general research cost is expensed in the period it incurs. Development cost for future power
projects is capitalised among fixed assets, such as cost of materials, salary cost and all cost incurred by the
Company in relation to capitalised development cost. Development cost is only capitalised if there is probability
of future economic benefit and the Company intends and is able to conclude, use or sell it. The useful life of
development cost is assessed to be unlimited until a decision is made concerning its use or sale, thus the cost is
not amortized at this stage but account is taken for possible impairment loss if a project changes.

Water and geothermal rights are capitalised in the balance sheet at cost value as intangible assets with unlimited
useful life since it cannot be determined when these rights will no longer be financially viable.

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment loss.

Subsequent cost is only capitalised if it increases the estimated future economic benefit of the asset it relates to.
All other cost is expensed in the income statement when incurred.

Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis, based on the estimated useful lives of intangible assets from
the date that they become applicable. Amortisation and estimated useful life is specified as follows:

Amortisation Useful life
SOTEWAIE veveeeeeteeteeeeeteee et et et et et et et et et et et et en s et et e s e et et e s eesenseesensaesensensensenseneeasenee 25% 4 years
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55.

56.

Lease agreements

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the
lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low
value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as operating expense on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of future lease payments, discounted by using the rate
implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. The
lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise fixed payments less any incentives,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, expected residual guarantees and the excercise price of
purchase options if the Group expects to excercise the option.

Lease payments are divided into interest expenses and payments of principal which are deducted from the lease
liability. The Group remeasures the lease liability if the lease term has changed, when lease payments change in
an index or rate or when a lease contract is modified and the modification is not accounted for as a seperate
lease.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If
a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group
expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the
underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

Variable rent payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease
liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers those payments occurs.

As permitted by IFRS 16, The Group applies a practical expedient that allows a lessee not to separate non-lease
components, and instead account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement.

Financial instruments
a) Non-derivative financial assets

Non-derivative financial assets are recognised when the Company becomes a part of contractual provisions of the
relevant financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised if the Company’s contractual right to cash flow due to the asset expires or the
Company transfers the assets to another party without holding back control or almost all the risk and gain
involved in the ownership. The component of the transferred financial assets arising or retained by the Company
is recognised as a specific asset or liability.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when, and
only when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle them on a net basis
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and receivables and financial assets available for sale.
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56. Financial instruments contd.:

i) Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held-for-trading or is designated
as such on initial recognition. Upon initial recognition attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or
loss when incurred. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value in the balance
sheet, and changes therein are recognised in the income statement.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are shares in other companies and marketable securities.

ii) Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets is measured at amortised cost if it meets the following two conditions and is not designated at

fair value through profit or loss: (i) the financial assets business model is to hold the financial asset to collect the
contractual cash flows; and (ii) the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Such financial assets
are initially recognised at fair value plus all transaction costs. After initial recognition the financial assets are
measured at amortised cost net of any write down for impairment.

Financial assets at amortised cost include bonds, cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other
receivables. Cash and cash equivalents includes funds and non-restricted bank balances with maturity date of
three months or less.

iii) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
If the financial assets are held within a business model where the objective is achieved by both collecting

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets the financial instrument is measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income. It is permitted to make a irrevocable election at initial recognition to measure equity
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income, if they are not held for trading or contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations
applies.

b) Non-derivative financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus direct transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition the liabilities are recognised at the amortised cost value based on effective interests.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when the contractual obligations due to the debt instrument expire.

The Company's non-derivative financial liabilities are loans, accounts payables and other payables.

c) Derivative financial instruments

The Company enters into derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency, interest rate and
aluminium price risk exposures. Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. Direct
transaction cost is recognised in the income statement as it incurs. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative
financial instruments are recognised at fair value in the balance sheet and fair value changes are recognised in the
income statement among financial income and expenses. Hedge accounting is not applied to derivative
instruments that economically hedge monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies.

i) Separable embedded derivatives

Embedded derivatives where host contract is not a financial instruments are separated from the host contract
and accounted for separately if the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract and the embedded
derivative are not closely related, other instruments with the same provisions as the embedded derivative would
be defined as a derivative and the hybrid contract is not stated at fair value in the income statement.
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56.

57.

58.

59.

60.

61.

62.

63.

Financial instruments contd.:

Changes in the fair value of separable embedded derivatives are recognised in the income statement among
financial income and expenses.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of the cost value or the net sales value. Cost value of inventories is based on
“the First In First Out method” and includes cost incurred upon the purchase of the inventories and in bringing
them to the sales location and in a saleable state.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, short-term market securities and demand deposits.

Equity
The Group’s equity is divided into owners’ contribution, revaluation account, translation difference, restricted
reserves, other equity and minority interest. The Parent Company’s initial capital amounts to USD 587 million.

Employees’ benefits

a) Defined contribution plan

Cost due to contribution to defined benefit plans is expensed in the income statement among salaries and salary
related expenses when incurred.

b) Defined benefit plan

The Company’s obligation due to defined benefit plans is calculated by estimating the future value of defined
pension benefits accrued by current and former employees in current or previous periods. The benefits are
discounted in order to determine their present value. An actuary has calculated the obligation on the basis of a
method, which is based on accrued benefits. Actuarial changes in the obligation are recognised among operating
items under equity in the statement of comprehensive income. Other changes are recognised in the income
statement.

Provisions

Obligations are recognised in the balance sheet when the Company has a legal obligation or entered into
obligations due to past events, it is considered probable that they will be settled and they can be reliably
measured. The obligation is assessed on the basis of estimated future cash flow, discounted on the basis of
interests reflecting market interests and the risk inherent with the obligation.

Operating segments

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group, which is subject to risks and returns, including income
and expenses related to other segments of the Group. In determining the distribution of resources to segments
and evaluating the results, the return of the segments is reviewed by management on a regular basis.

Segment operating results, assets and liabilities consist of items that can be directly linked to each segment, in
addition to the items that can be reasonably divided into segments.

Other matters

The Icelandic Minister of Tourism, Industry and Innovation, has appointed a workgroup to lead discussions on the
State's purchase of Landsnet hf. Landsnet operates the Icelandic transmission system and control of power
systems. Landsvirkjun owns 64.7% of Landsnet.

Negotations with the government are ongoing for the settlement of water and land rights. A provision has been
estimated.
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Landsvirkjun is a partnership company regulated by the Act on Landsvirkjun No 42/1983, as amended.
Landsvirkjun also operates according to a general partnership agreement from April 2012 which also states that
Landsvirkjun must abide by the regulations on General Partnerships, on matters not covered by the partnership
agreement.

The Company also adheres to the fifth edition of the Icelandic Guidelines on Corporate Governance, published by
the Chamber of Commerce, SA — Business Iceland and Nasdaq Iceland (English version available on the Iceland
Chamber of Commerce website). The guidelines relating to the Share Registry and the Nomination Committee do
not apply to Landsvirkjun, as the Company is a partnership company, regulated by Act No 42/1983, as amended.

Landsvirkjun’s internal controls are based on a structure that supports the goals of effectiveness and efficiency in
its operations.

The main role of Landsvirkjun’s Audit Committee, in accordance with Article 2 of its operating procedures, is to
monitor the organisation and effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls, internal auditing and risk
management. The Committee shall, in accordance with the Company's operating procedures, evaluate the need
for an internal auditor and submit, as appropriate, its recommendations on the tasks to be undertaken by the
internal auditor, including their scope and organisation. For further information on the role of the Audit
Committee, see the section 'The Board of Directors and sub-committees of the Board'.

Landsvirkjun’s Board of Directors approves the Company’s Risk Management Policy. The scope of the Risk Policy
extends to the parent company, but further information on corporate governance for the group is included in the
sections from the CEO, Deputy CEO and Executive Vice Presidents below. According to the Risk Policy, the roles
and responsibilities are defined in order to ensure that risk is efficiently managed.

- The Board's Risk Committee, nominated by the Board, verifies the effectiveness of risk management within the
Company and supports the Board in monitoring key risks and risk management procedures.

- The Company’s Risk Management Committee reassesses and approves risk management procedures within the
Company. The committee is a consultation forum for risk management and also ensures that the Company’s Risk
Policy is adhered to. The CEO, Deputy CEO and the Executive Vice President of the Finance Division are members
of the committee. The CEO serves as its Chairman.

- Executive Directors are responsible for identifying and assessing risks within their divisions, as well as
implementing appropriate risk mitigation controls.

- The Director of Risk Management coordinates risk management and is responsible for its realistic
implementation.

Landsvirkjun's Company Compliance Officer is Ingvar Christiansen, a lawyer within the Company's Legal Division.
Landsvirkjun's Deputy Company Compliance Officer is borgerdur Marindsdéttir, a Certified Public Accountant
within Landvirkjun’s Finance Division.

Landsvirkjun's Corporate Social Responsibility Policy dates back to 2012. The Policy is under continuous review as
sustainable operations are one of the Company's key objectives. Landsvirkjun’s Social Responsibility Policy states
that the Company's role is to create value, to respect and protect natural resources and the environment and to
share its expertise in order to effectively contribute to society. The Policy is approved by the Company’s Executive
Board.
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Landsvirkjun has defined its Code of Conduct which is presented in two documents: The Employee Code of
Conduct and Supplier Code of Conduct. These criteria are designed to support employees and suppliers in
decision-making. Landsvirkjun's Supplier Code of Conduct can be accessed on Landsvirkjun’s website. The Code of
Conduct is approved by the Company's Executive Board.

The government's general ownership policy encourages board diversity, where board members should be chosen
according to their diverse educational backgrounds and extensive skills, expertise and experience in operations
and the appropriate area of business. Gender diversity should also be considered, as well as any conflicts of
interest. Landsvirkjun’s Human Resources Policy states that the skills, education and experience of applicants
should be taken into consideration and that gender diversity should be adjusted as much as possible, to

strengthen the Company’s workforce.
Further information on policy and projects pertaining to the aforementioned can be found in Appendix Il on non-

financial information, and on Landvirkjun’s website.

Landsvirkjun’s role is to maximise the potential yield and value of the natural resources it has been entrusted with
in a sustainable, responsible and efficient manner.

Landsvirkjun’s values are progressiveness, prudence and reliability.

The Board of Directors approves the Company’s policy.

The Company has defined the following goals to uphold this role:

- To ensure efficient electricity generation and development

- To secure a diverse customer base

- To connect prices with the European energy market

- To inspire and promote expertise and talent

- To encourage unity and support from stakeholders via open and clear communication

Landsvirkjun’s vision is to be a progressive energy company in the field of renewable energy. The Company
operates within an international environment and hopes to be amongst the very best in generating and selling
energy.

Landsvirkjun is an energy company owned by the Icelandic State. The purpose of Landsvirkjun in accordance with
the Act on Landsvirkjun no. 42/1983 is to engage in operations in the energy sector and any other business and
financial activities pursuant to the decisions of the board of directors at any time. Landsvirkjun is the owner of
power stations, various structures, water rights and equipment that the Company has acquired through sectoral
laws or contracts.
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The Board of Directors

Landsvirkjun's Board of Directors is appointed by the Minister of Finance and Economic Affairs at the Company’s
Annual General Meeting. The Board is responsible for defining the Company's policies and ensuring the effective
and efficient operation of the Company. The Board is also responsible for monitoring the Company's accounts,
financial position and the management of its assets. The Board of Directors and CEO are responsible for the
management of the Company, as described in the section CEO, Deputy CEO and Executive Vice Presidents below.
The Board’s Operating Procedures can be found on Landsvirkjun’s website. The Board's members are
independent and unaffiliated with the Company, the day-to-day management of the Company and its owner,
pursuant to the Corporate Governance Guidelines published by the Chamber of Commerce in 2015.

Landsvirkjun’s Board of Directors:

Jonas b6r Gudmundsson, Chairman of the Board, was born on the 11th of May, 1968 and lives in Hafnarfjoréur.
Jénas was first elected Chairman of the Board at the Company’s Annual General Meeting on the 2nd of April,
2014. He is a Supreme Court Lawyer and has owned his own law firm since 1999. He has a Cand. Jur. from the
Faculty of Law of the University of Iceland. He was previously Chairman of the Icelandic Bar Association and a
member of the election supervision committee and wage council for the South-West constituency. He was a legal
expert at the Ministry of Justice and Ecclesiastical Affairs, Director of Education at the Faculty of Law at the
University of Iceland and a lecturer at the Faculty of Law at the University of Iceland. In addition to his principal
occupation, he also held the position of Adjunct at the Faculty of Law at Reykjavik University. Jonas is an
independent member of the Board of Directors and is not affiliated with Landsvirkjun or its owners in any way.

Alfheidur Ingadéttir, Vice-Chairman of the Board, was born on the 1st of May, 1951 and lives in Reykjavik.
Alfheidur was elected to Landsvirkjun’s Board of Directors on the 2nd of April, 2014, previously appointed to
Landsvirkjun’s Board of Directors by the Reykjavik City Council from 2003-2006. Alfheidur holds a BS degree in
biology from the University of Iceland and is currently an alternate Member of Parliament for the Left-Green
Movement Party and an editor at the Icelandic Museum of Natural History. She was a Member of Parliament for
the Reykjavik constituency from 2007-2013. Alfheidur was the Minister of Health from 2009 - 2010, and Chairman
of the Left-Green Movement Party from 2012-2013. She was the Publishing Director of the Icelandic Institute of
Natural History from 1997-2007 and editor of Natturufraedingurinn, a magazine published by Hid islenska
natturufraedifélag from 1997-2006. She worked as an Information Representative for the Women’s Shelter from
1994-1995 and as a journalist for Pjédviljinn from 1977-1987. Alfheidur is an independent member of the Board
of Directors and is not affiliated with Landsvirkjun or its owners in any way.

Jon Bjorn Hakonarson was born on the 27th of January, 1973 and lives in Nordfjérdur, Fjar6abyggd. Jon Bjorn
was elected to Landsvirkjun’s Board of Directors on the 10th of April, 2018 and was previously on the Board from
2014-2017. J6n Bjorn has been President of the Fjardabyggd Town Council and Vice-chairman of the Municipal
Council since 2010. He is also a Board Member of the Icelandic Association of Local Authorities, Sparisjédur
Austurlands, the School Board at Verkmenntaskdéli Austurlands and is involved in various committees for
FjarGabyggd, other public entities and municipal cooperation. He is also Party Secretary for the Progressive Party.
Jén Bjorn is an independent member of the Board of Directors and is not affiliated with Landsvirkjun or its owners
in any way.
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Gudfinna Jéhanna Gudmundsdéttir was born on the 14th of April, 1969 and lives in Seltjarnarnes. Gudfinna was
elected to Landsvirkjun’s Board of Directors on the 10th of April, 2018. Gudfinna is a lawyer and founded the law
firm Fasteignamal Légmannsstofa in 2002. She previously worked as a lawyer at the Ministry of Social Affairs, at
the Housing Financing Fund, National Council of State Housing Agencies and as a Representative of the District
Commissioner in Vestmannaeyjar. She was a member of the City Council for the Progressive Party and Airport
Friends from 2014-2018. Gudfinna also sits on the board of the Homeowner’s Association, is the Chairman of the
Examination Committee of Property Declaration and the Chairman of the Examination Committee of Tenants.
Gudfinna is an independent member of the Board of Directors and is not affiliated with Landsvirkjun or its owners
in any way.

Gunnar Tryggvason, was born on the 15th of August, 1969 and lives in Reykjavik. Gunnar was elected to
Landsvirkjun’s Board of Directors on the 10th of April, 2018. Gunnar has a B.Sc in electrical engineering and an
M.Sc. in power engineering and works as an Assistant Port Director at Faxafléahafnir. He previously worked as a
Senior Manager at KPMG from 2009-2018. Gunnar also worked in Corporate Finance at Landsbankinn and as a
CFO at Enex hf. Gunnar is an independent member of the Board of Directors and is not affiliated with
Landsvirkjun or its owners in any way.

Landsvirkjun’s Board of Directors evaluates the Company’s strategy, operations, financial position, its own work
and the CEQ’s. The Board annually reviews the presentation, content and form of the written information,
submitted by the CEO to the Board, pertaining to the Company’s operations and financial position. The Board
holds an annual meeting , without the CEO or other Company staff, to discuss the Company’s policies and Board
procedures.

Audit Committee

Landsvirkjun’s Audit Committee is subject to chapter IX of Act No. 3/2006 on Financial Statements, cf. Act No.
80/2008. The Board of Directors sets out the standard procedures for the committee to further comply with the
law. The role of Landsvirkjun’s Audit Committee, in accordance with Article 2 of its Rules of Procedure, is to:

a) Monitor processes in the preparation of financial statements.

b) Monitor the organisation and effectiveness of the Company’s internal control, internal auditing and risk
management.

c) Monitor the auditing of the Company’s financial statements and consolidated financial statements.

d) Assess if the auditors or auditing firms employed by Landsvirkjun comply with the laws and supervisory
standards generally adhered to by auditors and auditing firms.

Pursuant to paragraph 3, Article 8 of the Act on Landsvirkjun no. 42/1983, the general meeting elects a certified
public accountant or auditing firm to audit the financial statements of the Company, according to the proposal
from the Icelandic National Audit office. Pursuant to the Act on the Auditor General and the Auditing of
Government Accounts, the election of an auditor or audit firm shall be decided in consultation with the audit
committees, when applicable. Landsvirkjun’s Audit Committee serves an advisory role for the Board of Directors
and acts on its behalf. The Committee does not have executive power. The Audit Committee has a total of three
members consisting of two Board members: Jonas bor Gudmundsson and Gunnar Tryggvason and Heimir
Haraldsson CPA, who is the Chairman of the Committee. The Audit Committee may seek advice, whenever
necessary, to fulfill its supervisory duties. The Committee meets at least four times during the Committee’s
tenure.
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Risk Management Committee

Landsvirkjun’s Risk Management Committee shall, according to Article 2 of its Rules of Procedure:

a) Monitor Landsvirkjun’s risk management, including risk policy and risk appetite.

b) Present the Board with any proposed changes to the risk management structure, when necessary.

¢) Monitor the execution of risk management and evaluate its effectiveness.

d) Review Landsvirkjun’s key risks and the Company’s risk profile.

e) Review emergency management procedures, contingency plans and business continuity plans.

f) Oversee the Company's compliance with the law and mandatory disclosure requirements.

g) Monitor and inform the Board of Directors on the status of damage and liability insurance.

h) Take on the responsibilities assigned to the Committee, by Landsvirkjun’s Board of Directors, at any given time.

The Risk Committee has three Board members, all appointed by the Board of Directors: Jénas b6r Gudmundsson
who acts as Chairman, Alfheidur Ingadéttir and Gudfinna Jéhanna Gudmundsdéttir. The committee meets as
often as required.

Remuneration Committee

Landsvirkjun’s Remuneration Committee shall, according to Article 2 of its Rules of Procedure:

a) Submit a proposal regarding the Company’s remuneration policy and its review, to Landsvirkjun’s Board of
Directors.

b) Monitor the execution of the remuneration policy.

c) Submit a proposal on the CEO's wages and other benefits to Landsvirkjun’s Board of Directors.

d) Monitor the development of Landsvirkjun’s remuneration and human resources matters, including wage
equality.

e) Follow up on the completion of agreements made with the CEO and other employees, under the auspices of
the Board, on salaries and other employment terms.

f) Propose remuneration for Landsvirkjun’s Board of Directors and the members of the Board’s sub-committees
for the current term of office, to be submitted to the annual general meeting.

g) Take on the responsibilities assigned to the Committee, by Landsvirkjun’s Board of Directors, at any given time.

The Remuneration Committee has three Board members, all appointed by the Board of Directors: Jénas bér
Gudmundsson, who acts as Chairman, Alfheidur Ingadéttir and Jén Bjérn Hakonarson. The committee meets as
often as required and reports annually to the Board.

During the period 1.1.2019-31.12.2019: The Board of Directors held 15 meetings, the Audit Committee held 5
meetings, the Remuneration Committee held 3 meetings and the Risk Committee held 2 meetings. All the
meetings were fully attended.
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Hordur Arnarson is Landsvirkjun's CEO. The Board approves the CEQ’s Operating Procedures. The CEO handles the
day-to-day operations of the Company and must comply with the policy and instructions set out by the Board of
Directors. Day-to-day operations do not include measures that are unusual or significant. The CEO can only take
such measures with the explicit permission of the Board of Directors, unless awaiting the Board’s decision would
prove disadvantageous to the Company’s operations. The Board shall be notified immediately of any measures
taken under such circumstances. The CEO shall ensure that the Company accounts are kept in accordance with
the relevant laws and practices and shall also ensure the secure handling of its assets. The CEO supervises and
monitors Landsvirkjun’s subsidiaries and associates. The Company is in the process of developing an ownership
policy for the ownership of individual companies within the Group, where corporate governance procedures will
be consolidated.

Kristin Linda Arnadéttir is the Deputy CEO of Landsvirkjun. The Deputy CEO is the substitute for the CEO in his
absence and manages the CEQ's Office. The Deputy CEO handles any collective matters of the Company, as well
as ensuring good governance practices. The CEQ’s office has support divisions, which process any collective
matters for Landsvirkjun.

The Executive Board consists of the CEO, Deputy CEO, Executive Vice Presidents and others, dependent upon the
CEQ’s decision. There were five Executive Vice Presidents at year-end.

Oli Grétar Blondal Sveinsson is the Executive Vice President of the Research and Development Division. The role
of the division is to oversee the preparation of new power projects, conducting research and monitoring power
stations in operation. The division is responsible for the efficient implementation of power projects, increased
flexibility in energy generation, supporting innovation in energy generation and the long-term evaluation of
energy reserves.

Gunnar Gudni Témasson is the Executive Vice President of the Project Planning and Construction Division. The
role of the Division is to oversee Landsvirkjun’s power projects, from the preparation stage to their completion.
The Division monitors costs and safeguards the quality and progress of the various projects, in accordance with
the criteria, plans and needs outlined by the Company.

Einar Mathiesen is the Executive Vice President of the Energy Division. The role of the division is to ensure that
electricity generation and delivery is secure and efficient and fulfills the terms of the agreements signed with
Landsvirkjun’s customers.

Rafnar Larusson is the Executive Vice President of the Finance Division. The role of the division is to create a
foundation for efficient operations and to promote maximum results in all units of the Landsvirkjun Group.

Stefania G. Hallddrsdéttir is the Executive Vice President of the Marketing and Business Development Division.
The role of the division is to maximise the Company’s revenue by analysing new business opportunities, product
development, the promotion and sales of products and services, negotiating contracts and the follow up of
existing contracts.

The Company has not violated any laws or regulations according to any court or administrative order in 2019.

Communication with the owners mostly takes place at the Company’s Annual General Meeting and extraordinary
general meetings. See more about communication with owners in the Board’s Rules of Procedure.
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Business model

Landsvirkjun is an energy company owned by the Icelandic State which produces electricity from renewable
energy sources such as hydroelectric power, geothermal energy and wind power. The Company produces over
70% of the country's electricity and is by far the largest producer of electricity in Iceland. Landsvirkjun operates in
an international competitive market, offering competitive agreements, ensuring the long-term secure delivery of
electricity to various industries. The Company's share in the world market is negligible. Landsvirkjun sells
electricity wholesale to retail sales companies who subsequently sell to homes and businesses.

Sustainability and social responsibility — policy and focus 2019
See Appendix I: Statement of Corporate Governance for more information about the Company's Corporate Social
Responsibility Policy and ethical standards.

Work on the implementation of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Standards continued in 2019. The standards
offer an interrelated structure and represents and describes the global best practice for reporting on a range of
economic, environmental and social impacts. The standards also serve as a guide for goal setting, change
management and performance measurement within the scope of sustainable operations.

GRI implementation is part of Landsvirkjun's comprehensive approach to achieving sustainable operations and
supports and improves the Company’s current focus areas. An extensive discussion took place with the
Company’s stakeholders, as part of the GRI implementation process, in 2019. An emphasis was placed on
discussion with Company staff and a special training day, dedicated to sustainability, was held to support the
initiative. This was subsequently followed up with a survey which was also sent to a few external stakeholders.
Further details can be found in the Company’s Annual Report. Discussions will continue with key stakeholder
groups to further establish the materality of each of the topics of the GRI Standards.

Landsvirkjun continues to support the UN Global Compact (UN GC) initiative by reporting on the Company's work
pertaining to the UN GC principles in the areas of environment, labor law, human rights and anti-corruption. The
Company's performance in these areas is reported in the Company's 'Communication on Progress report' and in
its 2019 Annual Report.

Landsvirkjun supports the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). The Company has chosen to focus on three
of the goals: Climate action, affordable and clean energy and gender equality. The Company held SDG workshops
in October, 2019. All our staff members will eventually participate in this type of workshop, the purpose of which
is to provide employees with the opportunity to familiarise themselves with the goals and educate them on how
to incorporate them in their projects and daily tasks. Ten workshops will be held in total, five of which will be
held in Landsvirkjun’s power stations in the Southern, Northern and Eastern region of Iceland. Seven workshops
were held in 2019.

Landsvirkjun's operations can have a widespread impact on the community, especially those in close proximity to
the Company’s power stations. One of the Company’s policies is to achieve consensus with stakeholders through
open dialogue. A stakeholder analysis and communication plan is completed for all operational units and
construction projects, with the aim of communicating the activities of the Company as effectively as possible.
Annual meetings were held in 2019 for sustainability projects in the East and North-east regions of Iceland, as
well as open meetings and consultation meetings.
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Landsvirkjun supports a variety of projects that benefit the community every year, through its Community Fund
and in various other ways. Further information can be found in Landsvirkjun’s Annual Report.

Risk Management

Landsvirkjun follows a formal risk management process to identify and control the Company’s financial and non-
financial risks. The objective of the process is to map key risk factors and take appropriate action, to reduce the
likelihood of undesirable events and their potential effects on image, finances, health and safety and the
environment. See Appendix I: Statement of Corporate Governance, for more information about Landsvirkjun’s
risk management.

Key performance indicators

The implementation of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) standard and open discussion with stakeholders will
make the Company better equipped to evaluate its key performance indicators when it comes to non-financial
disclosures. Work has already begun with the aim of providing relevant information next year. In 2019,
Landsvirkjun renewed a revolving credit facility where the terms of interest are linked to Landsvirkjun’s
performance on certain sustainability performance indicators. More information about these indicators can be
found in the relevant sections below.

Environment

Landsvirkjun has a certified environmental management system, in accordance with the international standard
ISO 14001. The Company has worked systematically towards preventing and mitigating the environmental impact
of its operations, following the introduction of its Environmental Policy in 2006. The Company also follows an
action plan which is consistent with its Environmental Policy. One of Landsvirkjun objectives is to ensure that no
environmental incidents occur in the Company’s operations.

Indicator: Landsvirkjun maintained certification of I1ISO 14001 in the BSI audit in 2019. (2018: Maintained
certification).

Climate action is currently one of the world's greatest challenges. Landsvirkjun’s carbon footprint is among the
lowest in the world, when compared with other energy generation companies. The Company publishes an annual
report on all direct emissions from its operations in CO2 equivalents as well as indirect emissions in the value
chain. Emissions from operations have decreased in recent years. Landsvirkjun intends to become carbon neutral
in 2025.

An action plan was drawn up in 2019 in order to achieve this milestone. The plan covers the period from now
until 2030 and is based on the results of carbon footprint mapping conducted by the Company in recent years.
The priorities in developing the action plan were as follows: 1. Preventing new emissions — 2. Reducing existing
emissions — 3. Mitigation measures.
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Action taken during the year to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, includes the following:

- Internal carbon prices. Emissions, or future costs of emissions, are included in major financial decisions, ranging
from the procurement of consumer goods to the selection of new power station options.

- Decarbonisation of transport. Landsvirkjun is an active participant in electricity exchange in transport in Iceland.
The Company is a member of Samorka, an association of energy and utility companies in Iceland, a shareholder in
islensk NyOrka and a member of a cooperative forum on energy exchange called Green Energy. The goal is that
25% of the Company’s car fleet will be eco-friendly by 2020. In the next few years, Landsvirkjun will explore its
options for reducing the use of fossil fuel at power stations and will also analyse the technical possibilities for
energy exchange in back-up power.

Indicator: At the end of 2019, 30% of the cars owned by Landsvirkjun were eco-friendly (2018: 22%).

- Wetland restoration. In 2019, wetland areas were restored for the first time as a part of the Company’s climate
action plan. The goal is to restore the wetland areas as close to their original state as possible. Consequently, an
emphasis is also placed on monitoring changes in greenhouse gas emissions and vegetation settlement.

Landsvirkjun submits an annual report on its carbon emissions to the CDP, formerly the Carbon Disclosure
Project. Landsvirkjun submitted its carbon emissions information to CDP for the third time in the summer of 2019.
Feedback was received at the beginning of 2020 and the result was a B grade, which is above average when
compared with other energy companies that submit to the CDP.

Human resources

Gender equality has been a priority for Landsvirkjun in recent years with targeted work carried out in all areas of
the Company. A three-year action plan has been developed (2019-2021) and 17 improvement projects have been
defined to achieve these goals. One of the goals is to achieve gender equality in all areas of operation. One of the
objectives is that the ratio of female managers will be higher than 40% by the end of 2021.

In 2019, Landsvirkjun received the Hvatningarverdlaun jafnréttismala (Encouraging equality award) for gender
equality initiatives. The award brings attention to companies focused on equality in their operations. Read more
about Landvirkjun’s Gender Equality Policy in the 2019 Annual Report.

Indicator: At the end of 2019, the ratio of female managers at Landsvirkjun was 31%. (2018: 26%)

Landsvirkjun received the Gold Standard by PwC for Wage Equality for the fifth time in 2019. The Company also
received the standard in 2013, 2015, 2017 and 2018. The review revealed that the base salary for women was
1.5% higher than the base salary for men. The total salary for women was 1.2% higher than the total salary for
men. The difference between the genders for both base salary and total salary is within the limits set by PwC for
equal pay. The wage equality review by PwC supports the review of Landsvirkjun’s Equal Pay Management
System in accordance with the Equal Pay Standard iST 85:2012. Landsvirkjun’s goal is to maintain the Gold
Standard by PwC for Wage Equality.

Indicator: The Company received the PWC Gold Standard in 2019 (2018: Gold Standard PwC).
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Landsvirkjun is at the forefront of health and safety and employee well-being matters. Landsvirkjun works
according to a so-called zero-accident policy (no absence-related incidents). The Company is also certified
according to the 1SO 45001 occupational health and safety standard which requires the continuous improvement
of health and safety matters. In 2019, there was one absence-related incident, so the goal of accident-free
operations was not achieved.

Indicator: Landsvirkjun’s H-number at the end of 2019 was 0.31 (2018: 0.61).
Indicator: Landsvirkjun maintained ISO 45001 certification in the BSI audit in 2019 (2018: Maintained
certification).

Human rights

An emphasis has been placed on the improvement of gender equality in the Company’s operations. Changes to
corporate culture, to promote gender equality, was the focus in 2019.

Landsvirkjun’s Board of Directors approved the regulations on the corporate supply chain in 2016. The regulations
were developed with the aim of safeguarding the rights of Landsvirkjun’s workforce, including contractors,
subcontractors and temporary workers. These include the right to fair wages, employee benefits and medical
insurance.

Landsvirkjun's existing policies are intended to safeguard the human rights of all parties involved in Landsvirkjun’s
operations. A special human rights policy has therefore not been developed.

Anti-corruption and bribery policy

Please see Appendix I: Statement of Corporate Governance, for information on the Landsvirkjun's code of ethics
for employees, suppliers and service providers. In 2020, Landsvirkjun will focus on strengthening the Company’s
processes, in cooperation with various experts, to reduce the risk of bribery and corruption.
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